

Policy Brief Climate, Crime and Exploitation

The gendered links between climate-related risk, trafficking in persons and smuggling of migrants

October 2022







Contents

Acronyms	2
Key terms	
Acknowledgements	
Framing the challenge	9
Part 1. Climate, movement, and vulnerability	12
Adverse climate impacts are felt unevenly	13
Migration can help people adapt	14
Migration can put people at risk	15
Part 2. Climate, industry and exploitation	
Some industries pose specific environmental and social risks	18
Regulation is improving but limited in scope and enforceability	19
The responsible investment and business conversation is well positioned to act	20
The business case for more ethical practice faces challenges	23
Part 3. Legal, policy, and criminal justice responses	
Climate policies rarely integrate criminal justice perspectives	
Climate financing could meaningfully tackle TIP/ SOM vulnerability	
Emergency responses are more sophisticated than slow-onset	26
Climate change will stretch the capacity to protect and prosecute	
Part 4. Environment and vulnerability in Bangladesh	
Introduction	29
Climate-related impacts will intensify over the coming decades	29
Migration and mobility will remain important	29
Disaster and slower degradation are mostly making lives harder	
Climate-related losses can increase risk exposure to trafficking	31
Women and girls face specific financial and cultural challenges	
The pursuit of alternative livelihoods raise further ecological questions	32
The criminal justice system is affected in unpredictable ways	33
Part 5. Framing the response	
Recommendations	38
Strategies, policies and research	39
Legislation	40
Capacity building	40
Adaptation	40
Dialogue and cooperation	41
Dilatina and his	-13

Acronyms



BBG: Bangladesh Border Guard

BSF: Border Security Force (India)

CEDAW: Convention on Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination Against Women

COP: Conference of the Parties

ESG: Environmental, Social and Governance risk

IASC: Independent Anti-slavery Commissioner

ICAT: Interagency Coordination Group Against Trafficking in Persons

IFC: International Finance Corporation

IOM: International Organization for Migration

IPCC: Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change

OHCHR: Office of the High Commissioner of Human Rights

SOM: Smuggling of Migrants

TIP: Trafficking in Persons

UNFCCC: United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change

UNEP: United Nations Environment Programme

UNESCO: United Nations Educational, Scientific, and Cultural Organization

UNHCR: United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees

UNICEF: United Nations Children's Fund

UNODC: United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime

UNSCEB: UN System Chief Executive Board for Coordination

Key terms



Adaptation: In human systems, the process of adjustment to actual or expected climate and its effects, in order to moderate harm or exploit beneficial opportunities. In natural systems, the process of adjustment to actual climate and its effects; human intervention may facilitate adjustment to expected climate.¹

Climate change: A change in the state of the climate that can be identified (e.g. by using statistical tests) by changes in the mean and/or the variability of its properties and that persists for an extended period, typically decades or longer. Climate change may be due to natural internal processes or external forcings, or to persistent anthropogenic changes in the composition of the atmosphere or in land use.²

Environmental crimes: Can be broadly defined as illegal acts which directly harm the environment. They include: illegal trade in wildlife; smuggling of ozone depleting substances; illicit trade in hazardous waste; illegal, unregulated, and unreported fishing; and illegal logging and the associated trade in stolen timber.³

Climate-related event: An umbrella term for adverse events that may be attributed directly or indirectly to changes in the climate or human-driven forms of environmental degradation.

Disaster: Severe alterations in the normal functioning of a community or a society due to hazardous physical events interacting with vulnerable social conditions, leading to widespread adverse human, material, economic, or environmental effects that require immediate emergency response to satisfy critical human needs and that may require external support for recovery.⁴

Facilitator: The use of traffickers that act as brokers between other traffickers, that facilitate the buying and selling of victims, is reported in multiple cases,

and showing the level of complexities of some human trafficking markets. To illustrate, Austrian authorities reported a group that specialized solely on brokering women for sexual exploitation. The role of the group was to facilitate the distribution of victims among procurers operating in different European countries. Authorities reported the group did not make use of violence but used their good reputation to relate with business partners and intimidation to relate with victims. In these schemes, victims are sold by the recruiting group to the exploiting group with brokers also profiting from negotiations over the victims' price.^{5.}

Migrant: An umbrella term, not defined under international law, reflecting the common lay understanding of a person who moves away from their place of usual residence, whether within a country or across an international border, temporarily or permanently, and for a variety of reasons.⁶

Mitigation (of disaster risk and disaster): The lessening of the potential adverse impacts of physical hazards (including those that are human-induced) through actions that reduce hazard, exposure and vulnerability.⁷

Mitigation (of climate change): A human intervention to reduce the sources or enhance the sinks of greenhouse gases.⁸

National Adaptation Plan: The national adaptation plan process was established under the Cancun Adaptation Framework. It enables Parties to formulate and implement national adaptation plans as a means of identifying medium- and long-term adaptation needs and developing and implementing strategies and programmes to address those needs. It is a continuous, progressive and iterative process which follows a country-driven, gender-sensitive, participatory and fully transparent approach.⁹

¹ IPCC, 'Glossary of Terms'. Accessed 20 July 2022, https://ar-chive.ipcc.ch/pdf/special-reports/srex/SREX-Annex_Glossary.pdf.
² Ibid.

³ UNODC, 'Environmental Crime, A Threat to Our Future', Accessed 20 July 2022, https://www.unodc.org/docu-ments/NGO/EIA Ecocrime report 0908 final draft low.pdf.

⁴ IPCC, 'Glossary of Terms'.

⁵ United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime, 'Global Report on Trafficking in Persons, 2020,' Accessed 26 July 2022,

https://www.unodc.org/documents/data-and-analysis/tip/2021/GLOTiP 2020 15jan web.pdf.

⁶ IOM. "Key Migration Terms." International Organization for Migration. Accessed 20 July 2022. https://www.iom.int/key-migration-terms.

⁷ Ibid.

⁸ Ibid.

⁹ UNFCCC, National Adaptation Plans, Accessed 20 July 2022, https://unfccc.int/topics/adaptation-and-resilience/workstreams/national-adaptation-plans.

Paris Agreement: The Paris Agreement is a legally binding international treaty on climate change. It was adopted by 196 Parties at COP 21 in Paris, on 12 December 2015 and entered into force on 4 November 2016.¹⁰

Rapid/ Sudden Onset Events: A rapid onset event may be a single, discrete event that occurs in a matter of days or even hours, whereas slow onset events evolve gradually from incremental changes occurring over many years or from an increased frequency or intensity of recurring events.¹¹

Refugee: Someone who is unable or unwilling to return to their country of origin owing to a well-founded fear of being persecuted for reasons of race, religion, nationality, membership of a particular social group, or political opinion.¹²

Resilience: The ability of a system and its component parts to anticipate, absorb, accommodate, or recover from the effects of a hazardous event in a timely and efficient manner, including through ensuring the preservation, restoration, or improvement of its essential basic structures and functions.¹³

Slow Onset Events: Slow onset events, as initially introduced by the Cancun Agreement (COP16), refer to the risks and impacts associated with: increasing temperatures; desertification; loss of biodiversity; land and forest degradation; glacial retreat and related impacts; ocean acidification; sea level rise; and salinization.¹⁴

Smuggling of Migrants: The facilitation, for financial or other material gain, of irregular entry into a country where the migrant is not a national or resident. The criminals behind this highly profitable

business seize the opportunity created by the need or desire of people to escape not just poverty and lack of employment opportunities but also natural disaster, conflict or persecution.¹⁵

Vulnerability: A condition resulting from how individuals negatively experience the complex interaction of social, cultural, economic, political and environmental factors that create the context for their communities.¹⁶

Trafficking in Persons: The recruitment, transportation, transfer, harbouring or receipt of persons, by means of the threat or use of force or other forms of coercion, of abduction, of fraud, of deception, of the abuse of power or of a position of vulnerability or of the giving or receiving of payments or benefits to achieve the consent of a person having control over another person, for the purpose of exploitation. Exploitation shall include, at a minimum, the exploitation of the prostitution of others or other forms of sexual exploitation, forced labour or services, slavery or practices similar to slavery, servitude or the removal of organs.¹⁷

Trapped populations: People "who do not migrate, yet are situated in areas under threat, [...] at risk of becoming 'trapped' or having to stay behind, where they will be more vulnerable to environmental shocks and impoverishment".¹⁸

¹⁰ UNFCCC, 'What is the Paris Agreement', Accessed 20 July 2022, https://unfccc.int/process-and-meetings/the-paris-agreement/the-paris-agreement.

¹¹ UNFCCC, Slow Onset Events Technical Paper, Accessed 20 July 2022, https://unfccc.int/resource/docs/2012/tp/07.pdf.

¹² 1951 UN Refugee Convention.

¹³ IPCC, 'Glossary of Terms'.

¹⁴ UNFCCC, Slow Onset Events, Accessed 20 July 2022 https://unfccc.int/wim-excom/areas-of-work/slow-onset-events#:~:text=Slow%20onset%20events%2C%20as%20initially.sea%20level%20rise%3B%20and%20salinization.

¹⁵ UNODC, Migrant Smuggling, Accessed 20 July 2022, https://www.unodc.org/unodc/en/human-trafficking/migrant-smuggling/migrant-smuggling.html

¹⁶ UNODC, and UN.GIFT. "An Introduction to Human Trafficking: Vulnerability, Impact and Action," 2008. https://icat.un.org/sites/g/files/tmzbdl461/files/publications/icat_issue_brief_12_vulnerability_to_tippdf.

¹⁷ Protocol to Prevent, Suppress and Punish Trafficking in Persons Especially Women and Children, supplementing the United Nations Convention against Transnational Organized Crime, General Assembly Resolution 55/25, 2000.

https://www.ohchr.org/en/instruments-mechanisms/instruments/protocol-prevent-suppress-and-punish-trafficking-persons

¹⁸ IOM, Glossary on Migration, https://publications.iom.int/system/files/pdf/iml 34 glossary.pdf.

Acknowledgements



This paper was developed by the Human Trafficking and Migrant Smuggling Section of the United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime (UNODC) with the financial support of the European Union in the framework of the Global Action to Prevent and Address Trafficking in Persons and Migrant Smuggling (GLO.ACT) of the <u>Human Trafficking</u> and Migrant Smuggling Section.

The paper was drafted by international expert Paul Clewett, working under the supervision of Eurídice Márquez, GLO.ACT Programme Management Officer, with the support of Sabrina Knap, GLO.ACT Policy Support Officer, under the overall guidance of Aimée Comrie, GLO.ACT Project Coordinator and Ilias Chatzis, Chief of the Human Trafficking and Migrant Smuggling Section.

We would like to thank our UNODC colleagues from the Human Trafficking and Migrant Smuggling Section, the GLO.ACT team, UNODC research and gender experts, as well as experts working at the different country and regional offices for their inputs and insights.

In particular, we would like to thank our colleagues from the UNODC Regional Office for the Middle East and North Africa, Cairo, Egypt. This paper will be published in the forthcoming Report of the Women Development Organization (WDO) on "The Status of Gender Equality and the Empowerment of Women in the Organisation of Islamic Cooperation (OIC) Member States: Women and Climate Change," led by the WDO within the OIC.

UNODC is also grateful to the many colleagues from international organizations, government counterparts and civil society organizations who agreed to be interviewed for this analysis.

The designations employed and the presentation of material in this publication do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of the Secretariat of the United Nations concerning the legal status of any country, territory, city or area, or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries.

This publication was produced with the financial support of the European Union, within the framework of a joint initiative by the European Union and UNODC being implemented in partnership with IOM, the Global Action against Trafficking in Persons and Smuggling of Migrants (GLO.ACT). The views expressed herein can in no way be taken to reflect the official opinion of the European Union or the United Nations including UNODC or IOM.

Design and layout by Fady Nassif

This publication has not been formally edited.

© United Nations 2022. All rights reserved worldwide.

Framing the challenge



At least 3 billion people live in contexts highly exposed to the impacts of climate change¹⁹ and yet more to non-climatic environmental degradation and disaster. Even if the world meets the currently improbable target of limiting global warming to 1.5 C degrees set out in the Glasgow Climate Pact,²⁰ extreme weather and environmental degradation will see the deterioration of ecosystems and loss of biodiversity depended on by billions. In climate vulnerable countries,²¹ children and future generations, women, the poor (among whom the majority are women²²), and Indigenous Peoples, are disproportionately impacted.²³

The international community is expanding its response and financing.²⁴ Mitigation measures aim to limit the damage by reducing and removing carbon, using regulation (like emissions limits) and technology (like carbon sinks). Adaptation measures seek to help people survive sudden-onset disasters and reconstitute livelihoods undermined by slow-onset processes that degrade soils, rivers and forests.

Additional factors threaten to exacerbate climate damage and undermine mitigation and adaptation strategies. Environmental crimes accelerate the destruction of natural resources and undermine the resilience of affected populations. The economic damage of COVID-19 has intensified competition for re-

sources, increased the precarity of people on low incomes and with insecure migration statuses, and reduced the capacity of states to respond,²⁵ as does the conflict and instability seen in some climate-vulnerable countries,²⁶ such as those in the Sahel. Conflict and instability undermine adaptation measures.

This brief explores how climate change, climate-related events, and crimes that affect the environment²⁷ (environmental crimes) influence trafficking in persons (TIP) and smuggling of migrants (SOM), with special consideration of gender. It draws on expert interviews²⁸ and a desk review²⁹ to explore three key questions:

- 1. The effects of climate change, climate-related events, and environmental crime on TIP and SOM, and in particular its effects on women, in Part 1. Climate, movement and vulnerability.
- 2. How business practices shape exposure to TIP and SOM risk, in Part 2. Climate, industry and exploitation.
- 3. Current and emerging responses among policymakers, law enforcement, and civil society, in Part 3. Legal, policy and criminal justice responses.

¹⁹ Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. "Climate Change 2022: Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability. Summary for Policymakers.," 2022. https://www.ipcc.ch/report/ar6/wg2/down-loads/report/IPCC AR6 WGII FinalDraft FullReport.pdf.

²⁰ UNFCCC. Glasgow Climate Pact. FCCC/PA/CMA/2021/10/Add.1 https://unfccc.int/sites/de-fault/files/resource/cma2021 10 add1 adv.pdf. Carver, Dominic. "What Were the Outcomes of COP26?," 27 January 2022. https://commonslibrary.parliament.uk/what-were-the-outcomes-of-cop26/.

²¹ Global hotspots of vulnerability to climate-related events are found primarily in West-, Central- and East Africa, South Asia, Central and South America, Small Island Developing States and the Arctic. IPCC. "Climate Change 2022: Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability. The Climate Vulnerable Forum has 55 members across Africa, the Middle East, Asia and the Pacific, and Latin America. Indicative, not exhaustive. Climate Vulnerable Forum. "Members." CVF (blog). Accessed 2 July 2022. https://thecvf.org/members/.

²² Sheu, Jessica C., Melissa I. M. Torres, Mollie R. Gordon, Phuong T. Nguyen, and John H. Coverdale. "Potential Impact of Climate Change on Human Trafficking: A Narrative Review." The Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease 209, no. 5 (May 2021): 324–29. https://doi.org/10.1097/NMD.0000000000001312.

²³ UNFCCC. "Introduction to Gender and Climate Change." Accessed 2 July 2022. https://unfccc.int/gender.

²⁴ UNFCCC established a financial mechanism to support climate-vulnerable countries. Funds are managed by the Green Climate Fund (GCF) and Global Environment Facility (GEF). The GCF, for example, will see its disbursements more than double btween 2021 and 2023, to \$5.1bn. Green Climate Fund. "Financing Climate Action," 27 May 2022. https://www.greenclimate.fund/sites/default/files/document/20220527-financing-climate-action.pdf.

²⁵ UNODC. "The Effects of the COVID-19 Pandemic on Trafficking in Persons," 25 June 2021. https://www.unodc.org/docu-ments/human-trafficking/2021/The effects of the COVID-19 pandemic on trafficking in persons.pdf.

²⁶ The IPPC identifies the following regions as particularly climate vulnerable: iWest-, Central- and East Africa, South Asia, Central and South America, Small Island Developing States and the Arctic. IPCC, Climate Change 2022: Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability.

²⁷ The UNODC mandate on crimes against the environment covers wildlife, forests, fisheries, illegal mining, and waste. UNODC. "UNODC Environment Team: Our Mandate." Accessed 21 July 2022. https://www.unodc.org/unodc/en/environment-climate/our-mandate.html.

²⁸ See list in annex.

²⁹ Academic (Google Scholar and the Climate Migration Database (https://climig.com/) and grey sources, with a focus on the last three years.

4. The case of Bangladesh, a climate vulnerable and origin country for TIP and SOM, and a pioneer in adaptation, in Part 4. Environment and vulnerability in Bangladesh.

The paper concludes with Part 5. Framing the response and lists recommendations.

The analysis takes a human rights-based approach, integrating the United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime (UNODC) human rights and gender equality toolkit, which provides practical ways of integrating the protection of rights outlined in the United Nations Convention against Transnational Organized Crime (UNTOC) and sibling protocols on TIP and SOM into programmatic approaches. In particular, that approaches to countering TIP and SOM should not affect rights outlined under international human rights laws, including the 1951 Refugee Convention.³⁰



³⁰ And 1967 Protocol. UNODC. "UNODC Toolkit for Mainstreaming Human Rights and Gender Equality," February 2021. https://www.unodc.org/documents/human-trafficking/GLO-

ACTII/UNODC Toolkit for mainstreaming Human Rights and Gender Equality February 2021.pdf.

Part 1. Climate, movement, and vulnerability



Adverse climate impacts are felt unevenly

Humans experience the effects of changes in their environment via sudden-onset events and slow-onset processes (Table 1).31 Both are caused, intensified or accelerated by changes in the climate, such as global warming or sea level rises, and non-climatic drivers, including poor or illegal environmental management practices. Often, they are linked: for example (sudden-onset) flooding is common in places experiencing (slow-onset) sea level rises.³² Industrial activity can exacerbate the effects, particularly resource-intensive projects from infrastructure to mass farming, alongside environmental crimes including illegal pollution, logging, and waste disposal.

Half the world's population currently experiences severe water scarcity for at least some part of the year.³³ Ocean warming and acidification, soil erosion and desertification are causing food insecurity and reversing gains in public health, and people are dying in extreme weather events, from heatwaves to cyclones.

Impacts are uneven within societies. In extreme events, mortality among women is consistently higher.³⁴ Slow-onset events affecting agriculture disproportionately impact small-scale food producers and low-income households, which are themselves disproportionately headed by women. Children, elderly people and pregnant persons are further impacted.³⁵ Individuals, usually women and girls, are having to travel further to obtain water, exposing them to the risk of violence on lone journeys by foot.³⁶ People with disabilities are often disproportionately impacted by climate-related emergencies with higher mortality rates and difficulty accessing emergency services.³⁷

Impacts are also uneven between countries. Drought in Australia from 1995 to 2009 and Spain in 2008³⁸ did not produce widespread food insecurity. Yet droughts hit Kenya, Ethiopia and Somalia hard, where the rural population relies on favourable weather conditions for livelihoods such as pastoralism and subsistence farming.³⁹ Agricultural degradation and food insecurity has been a major driver of irregular arrivals to the US from Central America's

Table 1 Examples of climate- and environment-related events that directly impact human society and settlements¹

	Climatic	Non-climatic
Sudden-onset events	Extreme weather such as cyclones, forest fires, extreme heat events	Landslide (e.g. due to deforestation), floods (e.g. due to eroded river banks)
Slow-onset pro- cesses		River pollution, natural resource overconsumption, biodiversity loss, loss of abundance, water insecurity (manmade)

 $^{^{\}rm 31}$ IPCC, Climate Change 2022: Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnera-

 $^{^{\}rm 32}$ Chapter 9, "Migration and the slow-onset impacts of climate change: taking stock and taking action." in IOM. "World Migration Report 2022," 21 May 2020. https://publica-

tions.iom.int/books/world-migration-report-2022.

³³ Ibid.

 $^{^{\}rm 34}$ Sheu, Jessica C. et al. "Potential Impact of Climate Change on Human Trafficking."

³⁵IPCC, Climate Change 2022: Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability."

³⁶ Equally applicable to other essential materials made scarcer by environmental change, such as firewood. See UNFPA. "Infographic: Climate Change and Gender-Based Violence." Accessed 21 July 2022. https://esaro.unfpa.org/sites/default/files/pubpdf/climate_change_and_gender-based_violence.pdf.

 $^{^{}m 37}$ OHCHR. "The Impact of Climate Change on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities." OHCHR. Accessed July 22, 2022. https://www.ohchr.org/en/climate-change/impact-climatechange-rights-persons-disabilities.

³⁸ Mirjam, van Reisen, Mawere Munyaradzi, Stokmans Mia, and Gebre-Egziabher Abraha Kinfe. Roaming Africa: Migration, Resilience and Social Protection. Langaa RPCIG, 2019. ³⁹ Ibid.

"Dry Corridor"⁴⁰ alongside "excessive and unsustainable natural resource extraction."⁴¹ Migrant smuggling on these routes is often characterised by extreme violence,⁴² Food insecurity has knock-on effects for public health, which are keenly felt by women. Ethiopia's worst drought in 40 years threatens to derail gains in maternal and newborn health.⁴³

Adverse climate-related events require adaptation. National Action Plans — climate risk and adaptation strategies for lower developed countries introduced by the Cancun Adaptation Framework⁴⁴ — articulate a broad range of government-led measures, from disaster risk reduction⁴⁵ to governance reforms. Even so, populations experiencing vulnerability, such as women and the poor, will need to take continuous action to manage and repair the harm done to lives and livelihoods.

Migration can help people adapt

Environmental change is clearly already playing an important role in migration decisions. Direct effects include forced displacement due to disasters and the gradual erosion of livelihoods. Indirectly, climate is a "threat multiplier" in situations that are already driving displacement, such as conflicts, economic crisis and identity-based persecution.⁴⁷

Migration offers an opportunity for affected people to act, even if options are limited. From pastoralists searching for new pastures to cyclone victims finding shelter and work in cities, migration can and is successfully deployed to access safety, diversify incomes and build for the future. In such situations, those who are unable to migrate may feel trapped by the inability to move. Women in male-dominated societies may have less decision-making power and a lack of resources, therefore finding it harder to exercise agency to move.⁴⁸

Migrants seeking to reconstitute lost livelihoods tend to "move the shortest distance possible to find alternative work". ⁴⁹ Slow-onset processes tend to drive these decisions more than sudden-onset events. Migration requires resources, which most people need time to gather, and in many situations these resources can be more difficult for women to acquire. ⁵⁰ Victims of sudden, more extreme events tend not to have the time to plan or save⁵¹ and so if they do migrate, they are less likely to be able to move long distances.

In other situations, movement is a temporary fix. Displaced populations may anticipate the swift resolution of disasters and aspire to return home,⁵² thereby placing their focus on reintegration and rebuilding in hometowns and villages, though recovery will be more difficult in places where disasters repeat with regularity.⁵³ Factors like ancestral attachment, confidence in local survival strategies, and social capital may make people reluctant to migrate.⁵⁴

⁴⁴ The Conference of the Parties (COP) to the UNFCCC acknowledged that national adaptation planning can enable countries to assess their vulnerabilities, mainstream climate change risks, and address adaptation. UNFCCC. "The National Adaptation Plan Process: A Brief Overview," December 2012. https://unfccc.int/files/adaptation/application/pdf/nap overview.pdf.

⁴⁰ "The term "Dry Corridor" emerged in the last three decades to describe the increasing frequency and intensity of droughts in the region. These droughts are linked to El Niño events, which are occurring more frequently and intensely as a result of climate change and have had severe impacts on agriculture and food security in the region." Green Climate Fund. "Consideration of Funding Proposals - Addendum VI: Funding Proposal Package for FP174," September 14, 2021. https://www.greenclimate.fund/sites/default/files/document/gcf-b30-02-add06.pdf. ⁴¹ UNODC. "Abused and Neglected," 2021.

https://www.unodc.org/documents/human-trafficking/2021/Aggravated SOM and Gender.pdf.

⁴² Ibid.

⁴⁵ For example, Kenya aimed to "Fast track the implementation of the Ending Drought Emergencies Common Programme Framework

[&]quot;. See Ministry of Environment, Natural Resources and Regional Development Authorities, Kenya. "Republic of Kenya: National Adaptation Plan," May 2018. http://www.environment.go.ke/wpcontent/uploads/2018/05/National-Adaptation-Plan-NAP.odf.

⁴⁶ International Crisis Group. "Eight Priorities for the African Union in 2022." Crisis Group, 1 February 2022. https://www.crisis-group.org/africa/african-union-regional-bodies/b-177-eight-priorities-african-union-2022.

⁴⁷ Identity-based persecution refers to any harassment or discrimination based on the perpetrator's conceptualization of the victim's identity, such as their race, gender, sexuality, religion or political affiliation.

⁴⁸ Sheu, Jessica C. et al. "Potential Impact of Climate Change on Human Trafficking."

⁴⁹ Chapter 9, "Migration and the slow-onset impacts of climate change: taking stock and taking action." in IOM. "World Migration Report 2022," 21 May 2022. https://publications.iom.int/books/world-migration-report-2022.

 $^{^{50}}$ Sheu, Jessica C. et al. "Potential Impact of Climate Change on Human Trafficking."

⁵¹ Chapter 9, in IOM. "World Migration Report 2022".

⁵² Mirjam, van Reisen, Mawere Munyaradzi, Stokmans Mia, and Gebre-Egziabher Abraha Kinfe. Roaming Africa: Migration, Resilience and Social Protection. Langaa RPCIG, 2019.

 $^{^{53}}$ Daniel Umi. Interview #3, 28 June 2022.

⁵⁴ Adams, H. (2016). "Why populations persist: mobility, place attachment and climate change." Population and Environment 37, 429–448

Migration can put people at risk

Migration can also take place in unfavourable conditions that put people, especially women, at risk of harm. Environmental events and processes do not in themselves cause trafficking in persons and smuggling of migrants. However, they can create unfavourable conditions at three levels: personal, situational, and contextual,⁵⁵ with existing vulnerabilities exacerbated by environmental issues.

Personal

Economic hardships increase the supply of people seeking to migrate, with some looking to recruit and exploit people. People on lower incomes often depend on natural resource-based livelihoods, which are more likely to be disrupted by extreme weather events and other forms of environmental harm.⁵⁶ People with insecure land tenure may find it more difficult to resist land grabs or access compensation.

Depleted savings or resources make affected populations more susceptible to offers from traffickers that promise to restore livelihoods or cope with losses, such as those advertising fake or deceptive job offers, the "sale" of children, exploitative work arrangements, and coercive labour practices.⁵⁷ A lack of financial resources further limits the possibilities of migrating longer distances, instead limiting affected people to nearby opportunities in the same industries that undermined their initial livelihoods in the

first place,⁵⁸ or making them dependent on potentially exploitative arrangements with agents. Traffickers usually recruit, rather than kidnap,⁵⁹ through "manipulation of consent"⁶⁰ with threats attached to the lending of money.⁶¹ The process often begins with the voluntary engagement of a broker, agent or facilitator.⁶² The process can be used to trap migrants in debt-based servitude. Traffickers may charge large, up-front payments for recruitment services or lending money to families then using the debt as leverage to compel victims into exploitative labour.

While economic hardship increases TIP and SOM risk, other factors may mitigate this. For example, families may choose access savings or sell off livestock and other assets during hard times.⁶³ Separately, disaster and hardship may disrupt the patterns of everyday life, such as cultural connections and rituals, that in fact reduce the occurrence of child trafficking through marriage.⁶⁴

Situational

Social norms, such as identity-based discrimination, make some groups in these situations more vulnerable than others.⁶⁵ Understanding gender equality through an intersectional approach ensures that interventions are based on an understanding of the convergence of different backgrounds, identities and characteristics. Intersectional characteristics such as ethnicity, race, religion, age, sexual orientation and class can compound discrimination based on sex and on gender roles founded upon the cultural meanings given to being male or female.⁶⁶ For

https://icat.un.org/sites/g/files/tmzbdl461/files/publications/icat issue brief 12 vulnerability to tip.pdf.

⁵⁵ ICAT outlines personal (e.g. age, gender, disability, ethnicity), situational (destitution, illness), contextual (discriminatory laws and policies, disasters). Interagency Coordination Group Against Trafficking in Persons. "Addressing Vulnerability to Trafficking in Persons." 2022.

⁵⁶ Green Climate Fund. "Livelihoods of People and Communities." Text. Green Climate Fund. Green Climate Fund, 27 May 2021. https://www.greenclimate.fund/results/livelihoods-people-communities. UNODC, "Global Report on Trafficking in Persons 2020"

⁵⁷ IOM Migration, Environment and Climate Change. "The Climate Change - Human Trafficking Nexus." Accessed 8 June 2022. https://publications.iom.int/system/files/pdf/mecc infosheet climate change nexus.pdf.

⁵⁸ Terre des hommes. "The Neglected Link - Effects of Climate Change and Environmental Degradation on Child Labour," 2017. https://www.terredeshommes.org/wp-content/up-loads/2017/06/CL-Report-2017-engl.pdf.

⁵⁹ Sometimes the opposite is true, for example cases in several Pacific Islands highlighted by Maebiru, Veronica, Samantha Ryan, and Julian Tung. "Sexual Exploitation of Children by Travelling Workers in the Solomon Islands," 31 August 2021. https://ecpat.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/08/Save-the-Children.pdf.

⁶⁰ Noted by UNODC as far back as 2003 in the context of trafficking recruitment from Assam, India. UNODC. "Compendium on Best Practices by Law Enforcement Agencies," 2003. https://www.unodc.org/pdf/india/publications/compendium best practices 51 100.pdf.

⁶¹ UNODC, "Global Report on Trafficking in Persons 2020". And Maebiru, Veronica, Samantha Ryan, and Julian Tung. "Sexual Exploitation of Children by Travelling Workers in the Solomon Islands," 31 August 2021. https://ecpat.org/wp-content/up-loads/2021/08/Save-the-Children.pdf.

⁶² Smuggler, when concerning unlawful international migration.

⁶⁴ Van Reisen (2016) in Reisen, Mirjam van, Munyaradzi Mawere, Mia Stokmans, and Gebre-Egziabher Abraha Kinfe. Roaming Africa: Migration, Resilience and Social Protection. Langaa RPCIG, 2019.

⁶⁵ As elaborated in detail by the Report of the Special Rapporteur on Trafficking in Persons, Especially Women and Children, Siobhán Mullally, "Addressing the Gender Dimensions of Trafficking in Persons in the Context of Climate Change, Displacement, and Disaster Risk Reduction:" 2022.

⁶⁶ UNODC. "UNODC Toolkit for Mainstreaming Human Rights and Gender Equality." p.16.

example, female-headed households, perhaps resulting from the migration of male household heads, may face heightened stigma, difficulty in accessing the labour market, and therefore exposure to exploitation risk. Indigenous peoples who choose or are forced to migrate away from their traditional lands often face double discrimination as both migrants and as indigenous peoples.⁶⁷ Taking this intersectional perspective into account to recognize interrelated identity factors can help stakeholders to dismantle the layers of inequality and discrimination that may hamper response to trafficking in persons and smuggling of migrants.⁶⁸This approach is coherent with the principle of leaving no one behind.

Migration itself may put people in a vulnerable situation through dislocation from supportive networks and protective social capital. Women and girls arriving alone or heading households may face stigma and specific risks from gender-based violence and trafficking. Internal migrants or internally displaced persons often lack resources and therefore settle among other socio-economically marginalised residents.⁶⁹

Contextual

The capacity of criminal justice systems or strength of government policies may be more limited, and there may have weaker protection mechanisms⁷⁰ in industries operating in climate-vulnerable countries. Where government institutional and financial capacity is limited, residents may be left to "bear the brunt of disasters".⁷¹ Environmentally harmful and socially exploitative commercial activity often takes place in remote parts of countries where the presence of the state is limited.

Migration policies and legal frameworks in receiving states usually do not recognise climate-specific migration drivers as a legitimate reason for humanitarian protection. Few can access forms of managed mobility supported by the international community, such as resettlement, family reunification, or labour migration schemes.

Precarious legal status can be used as a means of control by traffickers who leverage victims' fear of repatriation, while people less knowledgeable about international travel or less able to pay may be more likely to turn to irregular migration. The latter may put them at risk of harm by aggravated forms of smuggling⁷² and potentially trafficking, violence and extortion from other actors such as police, and risks related to lack of shelter, the geographic terrain, and lack of basic services on route.⁷³ This includes children "pushed into" unsafe migration by climatic events.⁷⁴



⁶⁷ ILO, 'Implementing the ILO Indigenous and Tribal Peoples Convention No. 169: Towards an Inclusive, Sustainable and Just Future'. https://www.ilo.org/global/publications/books/WCMS 735607/lang--en/index.htm. .

mate change and migration in vulnerable countries.pdf.

exploitation, of such migrants. For further discussion, see also the UNODC report: "Abused and Neglected: A Gendered Perspective on Aggravated Migrant Smuggling Offences and Response." https://www.unodc.org/documents/human-trafficking/2021/Aggravated SOM and Gender.pdf

⁷³ Along just a small section of the Western Mediterranean irregular migration route to Europe, UNODC lists "Trafficking in persons, kidnapping, deprivation of liberty, sale of a person, inhuman and degrading treatment, and torture". December 2021, UNODC Observatory on Smuggling of Migrants-First Edition | 8. "Migration Smuggling to Morocco and the Western Mediterranean." ArcGIS StoryMaps, 24 May 2022. https://story-maps.arcgis.com/stories/02059636e2fb441f8cd074a310869d7e.

⁶⁸ UNODC. "UNODC Toolkit for Mainstreaming Human Rights and Gender Equality." p.16.

⁶⁹ Interview #1, 23 June 2022.

 $^{^{70}}$ IOM, "The Climate Change - Human Trafficking Nexus."

⁷¹ IOM. "Climate Change and Migration in Vulnerable Countries," 2019. https://publications.iom.int/system/files/pdf/cli-

⁷² The UN Protocol on the Smuggling of Migrants refers to aggravated smuggling as circumstances: (a) That endanger, or are likely to endanger, the lives or safety of the migrants concerned; or (b) That entail inhuman or degrading treatment, including for

⁷⁴ UNICEF (2019). "Are climate change policies child-sensitive? A Guide for Action: Summary". https://www.unicef.org/documents/are-climate-change-policies-child-sensitive

Part 2. Climate, industry and exploitation



Some industries pose specific environmental and social risks

The private sector is well-positioned to strengthen and undermine both mitigation and adaptation strategies, to the benefit or detriment of stakeholders such as workers and their families in climate-vulnerable countries.⁷⁵ Even where environmental safeguards are robust, business models dependent on raw materials, land, and other natural resources can have a significant environmental impact. Illegal practices or the manipulation of the law or officials to provide legal cover pose additional risks.

Measuring the impact of environmental harm is difficult and an ongoing task.⁷⁶ Nevertheless, some industries are more often than not associated with environmental harm and its social consequences. Fisheries, cattle ranching, gold mining, brick kilns, palm oil, wind power, and solar panels all have relatively high incidences of forced labour.⁷⁷ TIP risks are not always obvious, as transnational supply chains are hard to map. The renewables sector faces the challenge of ushering an era of green energy justly, without the collateral of negative social outcomes. (See Box 2).

Industry-led environmental harm can increase the threat already posed by climate change. In the Bangladesh Sundarbans (more detail in Part 4), sea level rises, saltwater flooding to create shrimp ponds, and land grabs have reduced the availability and viability of land for homestead crops or fruit cultivation.⁷⁸ This followed land loss in earlier decades due to mangrove destruction, which quickened soil erosion and

increased the vulnerability of farming land to flooding. An upstream dam⁷⁹ and overfishing further undermined fishing livelihoods, increasing dependence on day wages.

The adverse social consequences can be further multiplied by the risk factors described in section one. Deforestation in Indonesia, Brazil and elsewhere for environmentally-degrading industries including cattle, timber, mining, charcoal, and palm oil lead to insecurity of land tenure for local communities, undermining small-holder farming and the ability of communities to leverage their land for other commercial activities.80 The privatisation and nationalisation of rangelands places pressure on transhumance, a centuries-long and global adaptation strategy.81 Resistance by individuals in climate-vulnerable countries can further heighten vulnerability.82 Protests against land insecurity around the world have been linked to violent intimidation and murder, as well as sexual harassment, which disproportionately affects women and girls.

Resource-intensive industries are often labour-intensive, too. Where labour demand cannot be filled locally, labour recruiters often step in to source workers from further afield. Such industries are often present in contexts that share other key factors risk factors in common, including "informal markets and operations; low wage and seasonal work; inherently dangerous working conditions; operation in remote and isolated environments removed from monitoring and enforcement, and diffuse illegal extraction of natural resources that increasingly attracts transnational criminal organizations as natural resources become more scarce."⁸³

ham Rights Lab. "University of Nottingham Rights Lab (Dr Bethany Jackson) Contribution to OHCHR Call for Inputs: Trafficking of Persons in the Context of Climate Change," May 2022. http://owncloud.unog.ch/s/kFQa8RmZP4mSGn9.

nals.sagepub.com/doi/pdf/10.1177/1178622120951173

⁷⁵ OECD. "OECD Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises - Responsible Business Conduct Matters," 2021. http://mneguidelines.coecd.org/MNEguidelines RBCmatters.pdf.

⁷⁶ Interview #13, 25 July 2022. UNODC

⁷⁷ For a discussion of the research into sectors with a high incidence of forced labour that also contribute to climate change, biodiversity loss, and environmental crimes, see GFEMS. "Contribution to OHCHR Call for Inputs: Trafficking of Persons in the Context of Climate Change," May 12, 2022. http://own-cloud.unog.ch/s/kFOa8RmZP4mSGn9.

⁷⁸ Environmental Justice Foundation. 'Impossibly Cheap, Abuse & Injustice in Bangladesh's Shrimp Industry.' Accessed 26 July 2022. https://ejfoundation.org/resources/downloads/Impossibly-Cheap-Web.pdf.

⁷⁹ Farakka Barrage in India.

⁸⁰ Deforestation further undermines mitigation strategies through reduced carbon sequestration. University of Notting-

⁸¹ Rayamajhi Nikita, Manandhar Bikram. Impact of Climate Change and Adaptation Measures on Transhumance Herding System in Gatlang, Rasuwa. Air, Soil and Water Research Volume 13: 1–10 (2020). https://jour-

⁸² In the transition minerals sector, Indigenous Peoples are disproportionately represented among human rights defenders and particularly at risk. GFEMS. "Contribution to OHCHR Call for Inputs: Trafficking of Persons in the Context of Climate Change."

83 Decker Sparks, Jessica L., Doreen S. Boyd, Bethany Jackson, Christopher D. Ives, and Kevin Bales. "Growing Evidence of the Interconnections between Modern Slavery, Environmental Degradation, and Climate Change." One Earth 4, no. 2 (February 19, 2021): 181–91. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.oneear.2021.01.015.

In Thailand, most workers in the shrimp processing industries are migrants from Myanmar⁸⁴ and roughly 20-30 per cent are working in conditions amounting to forced labour and may have been trafficked.85 The extractive industries (see Box 1. Mining) tend to rely on a large human labour force employed in countries with weaker governance. Exploitation within the industries is common. By their nature, extractive processes damage land and ecosystems. Local people usually need to move, a process that may or may not be managed. The migration of usually male workers to fulfil labour market demand in such industries often creates demand for an auxiliary workforce too, such as prostitution or manufacturing factories, with positions often filled by trafficked boys, girls, and women. 86

Extreme weather events increase vulnerabilities in the affected population but also generate demand for labour. Reconstruction efforts can create an urgent need for labour, namely in construction where the trafficking risk is greater. For example, research shows the movement of labour from the agricultural to construction sector in response to earthquakes in Indonesia,⁸⁷ Thai nationals may have been trafficked to help with the reconstruction effort following Hurricane Katrina.⁸⁸

Regulation is improving but limited in scope and enforceability

Responsible practices in the private sector are driven by a variety of forces, from intrinsic ethical standards, local and international laws and regulations, civic responsibility and industry standards, and the choices and pressures put on them by stakeholders in their business, such as customers.

Efforts to formally regulate the environmental and social risk reporting of the private sector are advancing⁸⁹ but are likely to remain limited in terms of the number of companies and sectors covered by the regulations and their explicit attention to genderand migration-sensitive details. Regulation is challenged by enforcement difficulties in sectors that operate where monitoring and enforcement is difficult.⁹⁰

⁸⁴ IOM, "The Climate Change - Human Trafficking Nexus."; C. Zimmerman et al. 'Health and human trafficking in the Greater Mekong Subregion; Findings from a survey of men, women and children in Cambodia, Thailand and Viet Nam' (IOM and London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, 2014) http://publications.iom.int/system/files/pdf/steam_report_ mekong.pdf; United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime. 'Migrant Smuggling in Asia and the Pacific: Current Trends and Challenges, Volume II 2018. Accessed 26 July 2022. https://www.unodc.org/documents/human-trafficking/Migrant-Smuggling/2018-2019/SOM in Asia and the Pacific II July 2018.pdf.

⁸⁵ Accenture. "Exploitative Labor Practices in the Global Shrimp Industry," 2013. http://humanityunited.org/pdfs/Accenture_Shrimp_Report.pdf.

⁸⁶ This has been reported in the mining and wider extractives sector. See for example Steele, Sarah. "Human Trafficking, Labor Brokering, and Mining in Southern Africa: Responding to a Decentralized and Hidden Public Health Disaster." International Journal of Health Services: Planning, Administration, Evaluation 43, no. 4 (2013): 665–80. https://doi.org/10.2190/HS.43.4.e.

⁸⁷ The study looks at how labour markets change in the aftermath of natural disasters but does not explicitly make a link with trafficking. Kirchberger, Martina. "Natural Disasters and Labor Markets." Journal of Development Economics 125 (March 2017): 40–58. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jdeveco.2016.11.002.

 $^{^{88}}$ Sheu, Jessica C. et al. "Potential Impact of Climate Change on Human Trafficking."

⁸⁹ European Union. 'Corporate Sustainability Reporting Directive' Document 52021PC0189. Accessed 26 July, 2022. https://eurlex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX:52021PC0189.

⁹⁰ For example, in the Sundarbans, much land-based processing is completely unmonitored. Jackson, Bethany, Doreen S. Boyd, Christopher D. Ives, Jessica L. Decker Sparks, Giles M. Foody, Stuart Marsh, and Kevin Bales. "Remote Sensing of Fish-Processing in the Sundarbans Reserve Forest, Bangladesh: An Insight into the Modern Slavery-Environment Nexus in the Coastal Fringe." Maritime Studies 19, no. 4 (1 December 2020): 429–44. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40152-020-00199-7.

Box 1. TIP in the mining industry: Africa and Latin America

Forced labour and sexual exploitation on mining sites has been frequently documented across the globe. Governments often struggle to address the issue due to:

- The remoteness of mining sites organised criminal groups in Colombia were found to be trafficking women with impunity¹ while remoteness has allowed the sex trade to flourish at mines across Latin American, from Bolivia to Peru.
- Lack of oversight of local police or dominance of private forces – in Tanzania, local police and private security forces at a mine owned by a Canadian company were documented coercing sex from women.³
- Informal labour arrangements while multinationals may strive for compliance with labour and environmental laws, much of the sector including the supply chains of those same multinationals operates informally. Artisanal mining is characterised by weak organisation, clandestine and unaccountable operations, abuse, unsafe conditions.³
- Uneven regulation across jurisdictions the smuggling of precious metals via countries with weaker laws or regulatory mechanisms can make origins difficult to trace.³
 Verité reports how gold can be imported into the UAE in hand luggage, then re-exported with limited scrutiny to Western European markets.³
- Displacement and pollution the environmental effects of mining, in particular informal and illegal mining, can be devastating to natural-resource based livelihoods. Desertification, where mining takes place in arid drylands, can lead to vegetation loss and pressure on livelihoods that may pressure people into turning to negative coping mechanisms including the acceptance of precarious work.5

Estimating the prevalence of trafficking victims working on or near mining sites is difficult. A 2014 survey in Democratic Republic of the Congo, suggested that 3.7%* (or one in 27 workers) may have been trafficked, and 0.9% (one in 100) may have been forced or deceived into sex work, all of them women and girls.² UNODC will also release a study on the prevalence of forced labor in gold mining sites in the state of Pará, in the Brazilian Amazon.

- US State Department. "The Link between Extractive Industries and Sex Trafficking," June 2017. https://www.state.gov/wp-content/up-loads/2019/02/272964.pdf.
- Social Impact, and USAID. "Assessment of Human Trafficking in Artisanal Mining Towns in Eastern Democratic Republic of the Congo," August 2014. https://pdf.usaid.gov/pdf_docs/PA00K5R1.pdf.
- Verité. "Human Trafficking Risk Factors in Gold Production in Africa." Accessed September 28, 2022. https://verite.org/africa/explore-by-commodity/gold/.
- ILO. "Child Labour in Mining and Global Supply Chains," May 2019. https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---asia/--ro-bangkok/---ilo-manila/documents/publication/wcms 720743 pdf
- IPCC. "IPCC Special Report on Climate Change, Desertification, Land Degradation, Sustainable Land Management, Food Security, and Greenhouse Gas Fluxes in Terrestrial Ecosystems. Chapter 3: Desertification Special Report on Climate Change and Land," August 2019. https://www.ipcc.ch/srccl/chapter/chapter-3/.

^{*} definitions and survey question formulations vary, quote figures with caution.

The responsible investment and business conversation is well positioned to act

Investors from pension funds to development finance institutions have unique leverage over companies that depend on their capital. Investors determine the price at which companies in their portfolio can access capital and can set standards for how companies assess and mitigate risks related to the environment, social issues, and companies' internal governance standards (ESG). Most progress has been made around environmental standards, with social issues lagging behind (and the links between the two even further behind).

Even the leading standard-bearers have made limited progress in integrating migration and mobility concerns. For example, the International Finance Corporation's (IFC) Performance Standards⁹¹ are routinely applied to major infrastructure, extractives, and renewables projects across climate-vulnerable countries. The IFC standards require robust assess-

ments of involuntary displacement, refer to the "negative socioeconomic impacts of displacement" and require "livelihoods restoration plans"⁹² where relevant, and attention to the risk of forced labour in the workforce and supply chain.⁹³ A recent review of the Green Climate Fund's (GCF) Environmental and Social Safeguards similarly identifies the risks of forced labour in the supply chain and trafficking victims in the workforce.⁹⁴ Neither tackle the potential for portfolio companies to create TIP risk through their own commercial activities, though other GCF documents do.

The initial challenge is to make the link between commercially-driven environmental harm and TIP risk more visible. For example, while companies are expected to compensate people displaced by their projects, the displaced persons' integration — and potential exploitation — at destination are not routinely considered. This may mean that social protection mechanisms, local authorities and local law enforcement at destination are unfairly burdened without compensation.⁹⁵



⁹¹ IFC. "IFC Performance Standards on Environmental and Social Sustainability," 1 January 2012.

https://www.ifc.org/wps/wcm/connect/c02c2e86-e6cd-4b55-95a2-b3395d204279/IFC Performance Standards.pdf?MOD=AJ-PERES&CVID=kTiHBzk.

 $^{^{92}\,\}mbox{IFC}$. "IFC Performance Standards on Environmental and Social Sustainability".

⁹³ Except a requirement not to employ trafficked persons.

⁹⁴ Green Climate Fund. "Project Safeguards." Text. Green Climate Fund. Green Climate Fund, 5 September 2019. https://www.greenclimate.fund/projects/safeguards.

⁹⁵ More commonly, law enforcement would receive funds to maintain security at production sites.

Box 2. TIP and the Just Transition

Moving the global economy from fossil fuels to renewable energy will require new infrastructure and technology on a massive scale. This 'green transition' is critical to mitigating damaging climate-related changes on people and nature but carries its own risk of negative environmental and social impact.

Local populations may see water sources diverted or be pressured to vacate land to make way for hydroelectric dams or wind farms, losing jobs and community support systems in the process. Indigenous groups and women, among those most likely to rely on land-based livelihoods and least likely to have secure land tenure, are most adversely affected.

Some will be at greater risk of negative coping mechanisms, unsafe migration, and being targeted by traffickers. Evidence shows that socioeconomic outcomes are frequently negative,³ compensation is often too little (if paid at all),¹ and resettlement schemes can fail to account for social dislocation.

For example, people displaced by the construction of the Belo Monte Dam in Brazil were found to be worse off if they moved to cities, far from family and friends. In Turkey, the government resettled families affected by the Ilisu Dam construction in a purpose-built village called New Ilisu. Follow-up studies found that the lack of economic opportunities caused many to migrate to urban slum areas in nearby cities.

While some are displaced by renewables projects, others are moving to fulfil demand. Sharp rises in demand for polysilicon and cobalt for solar panel and electric car battery production risks growing exploitation in Chinese and Congolese mines respectively.⁴

Data on longer-term outcomes, including the actual rate of TIP in such situations, are rarely available. Impact and risk assessments tend not to consider trafficking in persons risk and rarely conducted once projects begin.

- Randell, Heather. "The Short-Term Impacts of Development-Induced Displacement on Wealth and Subjective Well-Being in the Brazilian Amazon." World Development 87 (November 2016): 385-400. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.worlddev.2016.07.005.
- 2. IDMC. "Case Study Series Dam Displacement." IDMC. Accessed September 29, 2022. https://www.internal-displacement.org/publications/case-study-series-dam-displacement.
- 3. SOAS, University of London. "Migration and Conflict in the Horn of Africa: A Desk Review and Proposal for Research," March 15, 2017. https://www.soas.ac.uk/ref-hornresearch/research-pa-pers/file120035.pdf.
- Cockayne, James, Edgar Rodríguez-Huerta, and Oana Burcu. "The Energy of Freedom? Solar Energy,
 Modern Slavery and the Just Transition," March 2022. https://www.thebritishacademy.ac.uk/documents/4198/Just-transitions-energy-freedom.pdf.

The business case for more ethical practice faces challenges

Compelling commercial arguments for responsible practices and compliance with international standards (the "business case")⁹⁶ can complement regulations, human rights-based imperatives, and investor-driven standards. Businesses may be concerned about reputational damage caused by negative media exposure of human rights abuses. Conversely, businesses and supply chains that pay attention to worker welfare can reap commercial benefits in the form of productivity, staff retention, and more lucrative contracts from ESG-conscious buyers.⁹⁷

Market dynamics can blunt the persuasiveness of the business case, especially among smaller business owners operating in sectors with tight margins. Depletion of fish stocks in Thai fishing⁹⁸ has placed downward pressure on working conditions as business owners try to survive in an increasingly competitive industry. Likewise, companies struggling to compete in the global construction sector may reduce working conditions and costs to compensate for the rising costs of raw material.⁹⁹ Global warming will exacerbate this, as the costs of maintaining essential infrastructure such as buildings, transportation and energy increase, resulting in higher demand for cheap labour.¹⁰⁰



⁹⁶ Where companies view sustainable practice not (just) as the right thing to do but actually as profitable.

⁹⁷ Ethical Trade Initiative. 'Corporate Approaches to Addressing Modern Slavery in SUpply Chains: A Snapshot of Current Practices'. Accessed 26 July 2022. https://www.ethicaltrade.org/sites/default/files/shared_resources/corporate_approaches_to_addressing_modern_slavery.pdf; IFC.'Managing Risks Associated with Modern Slavery'. Accessed 26 JUly 2022. https://www.ifc.org/wps/wcm/connect/5e5238a6-98b3-445e-a2d6-efe44260b7f8/GPN_Managing-Risks-Associated-with-Modern-Slavery.pdf?CVID=mR5Bx5h&MOD=AJPERES; ILO.'Combating Forced Labour, A Handbook for Employers and Business'. Accessed 26 July, 2022. https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---ed_norm/---declaration/documents/publication/wcms_101171.pdf.

⁹⁸ 14 per cent of what they were 50 years ago. Brown, David, Doreen S Boyd, Katherine Brickell, Christopher D Ives, Nithya Natarajan, and Laurie Parsons. "Modern Slavery, Environmental Degradation and Climate Change: Fisheries, Field, Forests and Factories." Environment and Planning E: Nature and Space 4, no. 2 (1 June 2021): 191–207.

https://doi.org/10.1177/2514848619887156.

⁹⁹ Seefar. "Profitable Ethical Recruitment," July 2020. <u>https://respect.international/wp-content/uploads/2021/04/PROFITABLE-ETHICAL-RECRUITMENT.pdf.</u>

 $^{^{100}\}mbox{PCC.}$ "Climate Change 2022: Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability."

Part 3. Legal, policy, and criminal justice responses



Climate policies rarely integrate criminal justice perspectives

While the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) noted the links between climate change and migration as early as 1990,¹⁰¹ migration has only been seriously considered in climate policy since the 2010 Cancun Adaptation Framework,¹⁰² and even then, without a clear link to its gendered dimensions.¹⁰³ Despite acceptance that the adverse effects of climate change affect women and men differently, most analysis of climate-related migration remained gender-neutral well into the 2010s.¹⁰⁴

The Nansen Initiative is probably the most advanced in highlighting the increased risks to unsafe migration and trafficking of people affected by climate change and disasters. ¹⁰⁵ The IPCC notes that extreme weather and climate impacts increase violence against women and girls, including through TIP. ¹⁰⁶ In 2022, OHCHR's Special Rapporteur on the promotion and protection of human rights in the context of climate change ¹⁰⁷ noted the vulnerability to exploitation of those without legal status. ¹⁰⁸

Despite this, TIP-climate links are rarely made explicit. Submissions to the Special Rapporteur on trafficking in persons, especially women and children, in the context of her report to the General Assembly in

2022 focusing on TIP and climate change,¹⁰⁹ in many instances recognise that climate-related risk factors, such as poverty, coincide with TIP- and SOM-related risks. For example, while "Tropical Cyclone Yasa and Tropical Cyclone Ana, which hit Fiji in December 2020 and January 2021, respectively, destroyed entire villages and crops, forcibly displacing people, and putting them at risk of trafficking;" attention to the climate change-trafficking nexus is notably absent.¹¹⁰

At the multilateral level, the 2015 Paris Agreement makes passing reference to migrant rights.¹¹¹ The Global Compact on Migration aims to both eradicate trafficking in persons and support climate-related migration¹¹² but does not link the two. The Sendai Framework for Disaster Risk Reduction¹¹³ notes the need for shelter and food to displaced persons and alternate livelihoods but does not consider TIP explicitly.

Regional and international agreements and dialogues tend not to make explicit the links between environmental harm and TIP/ SOM-related vulnerabilities. They include the Paris Agreement, which emphasises gender equality and the empowerment of women, The African Union Climate Change and Resilient Development Strategy and Action Plan (2022-2032),114 which is strong on migration, and the Con-

¹⁰¹ Milan, Andrea, and Sergio Ruano. "Rainfall Variability, Food Insecurity and Migration in Cabricán, Guatemala." Climate and Development 6, no. 1 (2 January 2014): 61–68. https://doi.org/10.1080/17565529.2013.857589.

¹⁰² Chapter 9, in IOM. "World Migration Report 2022".

¹⁰³ Gender Climate Tracker. "The Cancun Agreements: Outcome of the Work of the Ad Hoc Working Group on Long-Term Cooperative Action under the Convention." Text, 18 October 2016. https://genderclimatetracker.org/gender-mandates/cancunagreements-outcome-work-ad-hoc-working-group-long-termcooperative-action-1.

¹⁰⁴ IOM. "Brief 13: A Gender Approach to Environmental Migration (from IOM MECCC)." Accessed 21 July 2022. https://www.iom.int/sites/g/files/tmzbdl486/files/about-iom/gender/Gender-Approach-to-Environmental-Migration.pdf.

¹⁰⁵ Nansen Initiative. "Agenda for the Protection of Cross-Border Displaced Persons in the Context of Disasters and Climate Change: October 2015," March 2016. https://aca-demic.oup.com/ijrl/article-lookup/doi/10.1093/ijrl/eew004.

 $^{^{106}}$ IPCC. "Climate Change 2022: Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability."

¹⁰⁷ OHCHR. "Special Rapporteur on Climate Change." OHCHR, March 2022. https://www.ohchr.org/en/specialprocedures/sr-climate-change.

¹⁰⁸ OHCHR. "A/50/39: Report on Initial Planning and Vision for the Mandate." OHCHR. Accessed 26 June 2022.

https://www.ohchr.org/en/documents/thematic-reports/a5039-report-initial-planning-and-vision-mandate.

¹⁰⁹ OHCHR. "OHCHR | Call for Inputs: Trafficking of Persons in the Context of Climate Change." OHCHR. Accessed 20 July 2022. https://www.ohchr.org/en/calls-for-input/2022/call-inputs-trafficking-persons-context-climate-change.

¹¹⁰ See Commonwealth Human Rights Initiative's submissions to the OHCHR call for inputs Trafficking of persons in the context of climate change. https://own-persons

cloud.unog.ch/s/kFQa8RmZP4mSGn9.

¹¹¹ UNFCCC. "2015 Paris Agreement," 2015. https://unfccc.int/sites/default/files/english paris agreement.pdf.

¹¹² UN. "Global Compact for Safe, Orderly and Regular Migration," 13 July 2018. https://refugeesmigrants.un.org/sites/de-fault/files/180713 agreed outcome global compact for migration.pdf.

¹¹³ UNDRR. "Sendai Framework for Disaster Risk Reduction 2015–2030." Accessed 3 July 2022. https://www.prevention-web.net/files/resolutions/N1516716.pdf.

¹¹⁴ African Union. "African Union Climate Change and Resilient Development Strategy Action Plan," 2032 2022. https://au.int/sites/default/files/documents/41959-doc-CC_Strategy_and_Action_Plan_2022-2032_23_06_22_ENGLISH-compressed.pdf.

vention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination against Women (CEDAW) General Recommendation No. 37 on gender-related dimensions of disaster risk reduction in the context of climate change, which specifically links climate change as a women's human rights issue to conflict, migration and displacement. The United Nations Security Council Resolution 1325 (UNSCR 1325) on Women, Peace and Security recognises the disproportionate impact of conflict on women and girls but those displaced do not enjoy the same policy attention as those still present in conflict.

Frameworks that do integrate a TIP and SOM perspective usually adopt a risk-reduction lens, placing emphasis on the agency of populations experiencing vulnerability to adapt. The Nansen Initiative, for example, analyses human rights law but not transnational organised crime frameworks, as would UN-TOC. Opening the adaptation policy debate to criminal justice perspectives may both increase the effectiveness of adaptation strategies and reduce the burden on people in vulnerable situations.

Climate financing could meaningfully tackle TIP/ SOM vulnerability

"Few migration-focused activities are financed by global climate and environmental financing instruments"¹¹⁶ but the alternative livelihood components of major financing instruments¹¹⁷ tackle common

risk factors. Securing land tenure and supporting sustainable livelihoods is a central aim of the \$12 billion Forests Fund. ¹¹⁸ Under its 'Livelihoods of people and communities' results area, the GCF will support the financial resilience of populations experiencing vulnerability. ¹¹⁹ There is scope to link livelihoods activity more explicitly to TIP and SOM risk.

A second synergy is where climate financing tools aim to tackle environmental crime. Such crimes often contribute to or exacerbate the effects of slow onset climate and environmental damage. More robust measures to tackle marine pollution, for example, will both support climate goals and temper ocean acidification, which is reducing the viability of fishing as a livelihood and in certain places driving people to situations of exploitation.

Emergency responses are more sophisticated than slow-onset

Slow-onset processes get less attention from governments and international agencies concerned with the trafficking risk of high-profile sudden-onset disasters. The response to the trafficking risk in emergency contexts has been well established over the last two decades, with the aftermath of the 2004 Tsunami in South Asia.

 2006 - Protecting Persons Affected by Natural Disasters: IASC Operational Guidelines on Human Rights and Natural Disasters¹²¹

¹¹⁵ CEDAW, 'General Recommendation No. 37 on Gender-related dimensions of disaster risk reduction in the context of climate change.' Accessed 22 July 2022. https://tbinter-net.ohchr.org/Treaties/CEDAW/Shared%20Documents/1 Global/CEDAW C GC 37 8642 E.pdf.

¹¹⁶ IOM. "Institutional Strategy on Migration, Environment and Climate Change 2021–2030," 21 May 2020. https://publications.iom.int/books/institutional-strategy-migration-environ-ment-and-climate-change-2021-2030.

¹¹⁷ Including the Global Environment Facility, Green Climate Fund, Adaptation Fund, Special Climate Change Fund, and Least Developed Countries Fund. Drawn from UN Framework Convention on Climate Change. "UNFCCC Topics." Accessed 26 June 2022. https://unfccc.int/topics#:11565fd6-dd29-4d61-8085-27dba428982f:997d8988-ae1e-434f-9035-3f2725e48eac. Also the Forests Fund. UN Climate Change Conference UK 2021. "The Global Forest Finance Pledge." UN Climate Change Conference (COP26) at the SEC – Glasgow 2021, 2 November 2021. https://ukcop26.org/the-global-forest-finance-pledge/.

¹¹⁸ UN Climate Change Conference UK 2021. "The Global Forest Finance Pledge." UN Climate Change Conference (COP26) at the SEC – Glasgow 2021, 2 November 2021. https://ukcop26.org/the-global-forest-finance-pledge/.

¹¹⁹ Green Climate Fund. "Livelihoods of People and Communities." Text. Green Climate Fund. Green Climate Fund, 27 May 2021. https://www.greenclimate.fund/results/livelihoods-people-communities. The Green Climate Fund released a Gender and Social Inclusion Manual in 2018. Although it does not explicitly mention migration, TIP or SOM, it makes mandatory initial social assessments that "determine how the project/programme can respond to the needs of women and men in view of the specific climate change issue to be addressed", among other direction. Green Climate Fund. "GCF Gender Equality and Social Inclusion Policy and Action Plan 2018–2020," 2018. https://www.greenclimate.fund/sites/default/files/docu-

ment/gcf-b19-25.pdf.

120 Although despite progress, humanitarian responses have typically been less concerned with TIP aspects and assign it fewer resources. Mirjam, van Reisen, Mawere Munyaradzi, Stokmans Mia, and Gebre-Egziabher Abraha Kinfe. Roaming Africa: Migration, Resilience and Social Protection. Langaa RPCIG, 2019.

¹²¹ Inter-Agency Standing Committee (2006). "Protecting Persons Affected by Natural Disasters: Operational Guidelines on Human Rights and Natural Disasters".

- 2008 UNODC published its Toolkit to Combat Trafficking in Persons, which included IOM's counter-trafficking practices in post tsunami Indonesia¹²²
- 2009 IOM initiatives following Cyclone Aila in Bangladesh
- 2010 IOM helped set up rapid response teams comprising national and international immigration officers, police and customs officers in Haiti to respond to border emergencies after the 2010 earthquake¹²³
- 2010 UNHCR's response to 2010 floods in Pakistan
- 2011 IASC published Operational Guidelines on the Protection of Persons in Natural Disasters with additional references to counter-trafficking efforts in an emergency response124
- 2013, '15, '16 IOM's response to Typhoon Haiyan in the Philippines in 2013 and landslides in Myanmar in 2015, and Hurricane Matthew in Haiti in 2016
- 2015 IOM, UNICEF and AWO International worked with local NGOs in Nepal to run prevention campaigns on trafficking and unsafe migration. UNICEF and the Nepal Police established checkpoints in earthquake affected districts to intercept child trafficking victims.¹²⁵

While the risk of trafficking in humanitarian emergencies is severe, the scale is greater outside of emergency contexts, where established recruitment patterns and irregular migration routes intersect

with worsening conditions to create a more ready supply of potential victims. ¹²⁶ Moreover, the focus on emergency contexts can mean that "those most affected are positioned only as victims, with limited opportunities to ... participate in the design ... of policies" affecting them. ¹²⁷

Climate change will stretch the capacity to protect and prosecute

With an increase in the unlawful exploitation of both climatic and non-climatic sudden and slow environmental impacts, the rule of law and role of litigation in preventing crime and protecting its victims is increasingly important. Where climate change litigation has been comparatively rare, greater public consciousness may be making it more common.¹²⁸ As one example among many is the lawsuit brought by civil society organisations against the governments of Tanzania and Uganda before the East African Court of Justice seeking an injunction to stop the East African Crude Oil Pipeline, alleging improper environmental, social, human rights and climate assessments.¹²⁹

Yet the scale and fast-changing nature of the challenge threatens to overwhelm limited capacity. In many contexts, law enforcement are the first responders to climate-related disasters as well as the consequences of slower-onset events, including conflict emanating from tension over scarce resources, youth in vulnerable situations being recruited by armed groups, 130 and TIP and SOM. Meanwhile, the frequency and severity of extreme events is already overwhelming some governments' capacity to respond, especially those whose economies have been hard hit by COVID-19, such as the Pacific Island States 131

¹²² UNODC (2008). "Toolkit to Combat Trafficking in Persons." https://www.unodc.org/documents/human-trafficking/Toolkit-files/07-89375 Ebook[1].pdf

¹²³ IOM (2015). "Addressing Human Trafficking and Exploitation in Times of Crisis- Evidence and Recommendations for Further Action to Protect Vulnerable and Mobile Populations." https://publications.iom.int/system/files/addressing_human_trafficking.pdf

 ¹²⁴ Inter-Agency Standing Committee (2011). "Operational Guidelines on the Protections of Persons in Natural Disasters".
 125 United Nations (2015). "Nepal: in earthquakes' wake, UNICEF speeds up response to prevent child trafficking".
 https://news.un.org/en/story/2015/06/502262-nepal-earthquakes-wake-unicef-speeds-response-prevent-child-trafficking

¹²⁶ Bharadwaj, Ritu, Devanshu Chakravarti, N Karthikeyan, Somnath Hazra, Umi Daniel, Johnson Topno, and Raashee Abhilashi. "Climate Change, Migration and Vulnerability to Trafficking," May 2022. https://pubs.jied.org/20936ijed.

¹²⁷ UN. "Addressing the Gender Dimensions of Trafficking in Persons in the Context of Climate Change, Displacement, and Disas-

ter Risk Reduction: Report of the Special Rapporteur on Trafficking in Persons, Especially Women and Children, Siobhán Mullally," 2022.

¹²⁸ Burianski, Markus, Mark Clarke, Federico Kuhnle, and Gwen Wackwitz. "Climate Change Litigation in Africa: Current Status and Future Developments | White & Case LLP," 9 November 2021. https://www.whitecase.com/publications/insight/africa-focus-autumn-2021/climate-change-litigation-africa.

¹²⁹ Global Climate Change Litigation Database. "Center for Food and Adequate Living Rights et al. v. Tanzania and Uganda." Climate Change Litigation. Accessed 3 July 2022. http://climate-casechart.com/non-us-case/center-for-food-and-adequate-living-rights-et-al-v-tanzania-and-uganda/.

¹³⁰ Carrilho, Luís. "Police as First Responders to the Global Climate Crisis." The Conversation (blog), 7 October 2019. https://medium.com/we-the-peoples/police-as-first-responders-to-the-global-climate-crisis-d4896f4d8ec.

¹³¹ Maebiru, Veronica, Samantha Ryan, and Julian Tung. "Sexual Exploitation of Children by Travelling Workers in the Solomon Islands," 31 August 2021. https://ecpat.org/wp-content/up-loads/2021/08/Save-the-Children.pdf.

Part 4. Environment and vulnerability in Bangladesh



Introduction¹³²

This case study explores the links between environmental change and trafficking in women and girls between south Bangladesh and major cities in India. Evidence is drawn from interviews with 25 representatives of government, private, civil society, and criminal justice sectors, and survivors of human trafficking conducted in August 2022 during a field visit to four districts in Bangladesh's Khulna Division: Bagerhat, Jashore, Khulna, and Satkhira.

Research, NGO reporting, and survivor testimony have repeatedly shown patterns of exploitation among Bangladeshi women and girls migrating to Kolkata, New Delhi, Mumbai, and elsewhere. Survivor testimonies submitted to NGOs and to researchers in this study, have shown that environmental changes factor into the decision to migrate and vulnerability to accept ultimately misleading offers of work.

The environmental changes can be attributed both to climate change and other issues, such as pollution and biodiversity loss. From a climate perspective, TIP survivors have decided to migrate after the loss of assets and natural resource-based livelihoods due to devastating cyclones or due to slower processes that decimate crops, such as irregular rainfall and saline intrusion. When whole communities face hardship, local economies can be compromised far beyond subsistence farmers and fishers.

In 2018, Bangladesh documented 355 rescues of internal TIP victims, 1,400 border interceptions, and 119 repatriations from India alone, ¹³³ figures that are

unlikely reflect the full scale.¹³⁴ However, reliable estimates of the rate of exploitation — and the extent to which environmental factors are responsible relative to other issues — are lacking. However, this case study shows there is enough evidence to warrant further investigation.

Climate-related impacts will intensify over the coming decades

Bangladesh is the seventh most climate-vulnerable country in the world.¹³⁵ Sudden- and slow-onset climate change have caused loss to life, property, and productive assets nationwide.¹³⁶ Over the next 30 years, average temperature, sea level, and precipitation increases could make cyclones more intense and expand flood-affected areas by 20 percent.¹³⁷ In some places, industrial development has reduced the dependability of water, air, and other natural resources, even as it has created jobs that may benefit those displaced by extreme weather and other events.

Migration and mobility will remain important

Migration has been an important response to climate change, among other risks and opportunities. At least 7.8 million Bangladeshis live abroad¹³⁸ and

https://www.un.org/development/desa/pd/content/international-migrant-stock.

¹³² This case study has been developed in the framework of GLO.ACT – Bangladesh, a joint initiative by the EU and UNODC being implemented in partnership with IOM, led by the Government of Bangladesh. Through targeted, innovative, and demand-driven interventions, the project aims to support the Government of Bangladesh and civil society organizations to more effectively fight the crimes of human trafficking and migrant smuggling across the country. The project works on developing evidence-based information on trafficking and smuggling patterns and trends, legislative review and harmonization, capability development of criminal justice actors, and international cooperation. The project also provides direct assistance to victims of human trafficking and migrants in vulnerable situations through the strengthening of identification, referral, and protection mechanisms.

¹³⁵ 1999–2018 Long-Term Climate Risk Index. Eckstein, D., Künzel, V., Schäfer, L., and Winges, M.: Global Climate Risk Index 2020: Who Suffers Most from Extreme Weather Events? Weather-Related Loss Events in 2018 and 1999 to 2018, edited by: Chapman-Rose, J. and Longwitz, J., Germanwatch, Berlin, 2019.

¹³⁶ Around a third of the Bangladesh resident population lives in coastal districts exposed to extreme weather. Bangladesh averages 4.1 tropical cyclones per year, of which 1.7 are 'intensive', affecting 45 million people and causing \$9 billion in damages in the last 30 years. International Union for Conservation of Nature, Tropical Cyclones: Impact on Coastal Livelihoods, Accessed 21 July 2022, https://www.iucn.org/sites/default/files/import/downloads/iucn_tropical_cyclones_bangladesh.pdf and EM-DAT – The International Disaster Database (D. Guha-Sapir), CRED, UCLouvain, Brussels, Belgium, available at: https://www.emdat.be/.

¹³⁷ Among other impacts. See Asian Development Bank. "Khulna Sewerage System Development Project: Report and Recommendation of the President: Climate Change Assessment." Accessed August 13, 2022. https://www.adb.org/sites/default/files/linked-documents/49329-007-cca.pdf.

¹³⁸ UNDESA. "International Migrant Stock | Population Division," 2020.

remittances doubled between 2010 and 2020 (before halving again in a single year, 2022).¹³⁹ Rates of internal migration – voluntary internal migration to forcible displacement – are even greater.¹⁴⁰

Bagerhat, Jashore, Khulna, and Satkhira districts contain key points of origin, transit, and destination. Before the opening of Padma bridge these districts were 5-7 hours' drive from Dhaka, where many women from the region work in households, the garment sector, and prostitution – now with the opening of the bridge they are just 2-3 hours away, for many residents in Bangladesh's south, bringing economic opportunities in Dhaka closer than Kolkata for the first time in centuries.

The region has more recently been characterised by male labour emigration to Gulf Cooperation Council countries and East Asia. There has been chain migration of mostly men from some villages now referred to as "mini Malaysia" and "mini Kuwait", with high levels of exploitation at destination in the construction and hospitality sectors. This is directly linked with the vulnerability of so-called 'left behind' women, creating an increasing number of femaleheaded households, who, due to social (and sometimes related economic issues), are particularly vulnerable to local harassment, unsafe migration, and targeting by traffickers.

TIP trends take place against a backdrop of foreign and domestic investment and job creation. Mongla Sea Port is both a transit point for (irregular) travellers to Malaysia and heralded as a growing destination for internal climate migrants. And though long-seen by TIP analysts as critical nodal points for TIP,

Jashore and Khulna cities have become destinations for small scale traders and relocating farmers, many of whom are relatively prosperous.

Migration and remittances have come to play an important role in household and national finances, as well as providing social and other benefits, but for many, come with a heavy cost. Though comprehensive data on trafficking in persons and smuggling of migrants does not exist, the evidence shows that human trafficking persist in the country.¹⁴³

In interviews, it was reported that women and girls were trafficked in the past 1-2 years and sexually exploited in Maharashtra and West Bengal and there was an increasing trend of traffickers leveraging promises of stardom via Tik Tok and other social media. Internal trafficking, even within the district, may be common but largely undocumented. In the past, villages in Khulna provided boys, trafficked for camel racing.¹⁴⁴

Disaster and slower degradation are mostly making lives harder

Sudden-onset events such as Cyclone Amphan and monsoon 'super floods' in 2020 are just two examples of increasingly frequent events that cause loss to life, land, livestock, and homes. A survey showed that storm risks were most widespread in Satkhira (96 percent of households) and Bagerhat (85 percent) and flooding risk significant in Bagerhat (33 percent). Another survey showed waterlogging, a latent effect of Cyclone Amphan combined with

http://www.old.bmet.gov.bd/BMET/stattisticalDataAction

Commission. Accessed August 22, 2022. https://home-affairs.ec.europa.eu/pages/glossary/chain-migration_en

142 Alam, Julhas. "For Climate Migrants in Bangladesh, Town Offers New Life." ABC News. Accessed August 20, 2022. https://abcnews.go.com/International/wireStory/climate-migrants-bangladesh-town-offers-life-83755907.

¹³⁹ Bureau of Manpower Employment and Training. "Overseas Employment and Remittances (Country Wise - Yearly)
From 1976-2022 (Up to July)," July 2022.

¹⁴⁰ Urbanisation in the 2000s was the fastest in South Asia. Floods and storms displaced over 8 million between 2019 and 2021 alone and climate IDPs may number 20 million by 2050. Alam, Md. Zakiul, and Abdullah Al Mamun. "Dynamics of Internal Migration in Bangladesh: Trends, Patterns, Determinants, and Causes." PLoS ONE 17, no. 2 (14 February 2022): e0263878. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0263878.

¹⁴¹ Chain migration refers to the process in which migrants to a particular destination inspire or help others from their place of origin to follow them. Ethnic or family ties or recruitment practices may all play a role. Often "primary wage earners migrate first, followed by secondary or non-wage earners." European

¹⁴³ A National Study on Trafficking in Persons in Bangladesh is being finalized by the Government of Bangladesh with the support of UNODC, and with the financial support of the European Union in the framework of GLO.ACT- Bangladesh (forthcoming).

¹⁴⁵ Note the survey employed a stratified sampling approach with measures to include districts affected and unaffected by recent cyclones and floods. See Eskander, Shaikh, Paul Steele, Mamunur Rashid, Nuzhat Imam, and Sirazoom Munira. "How Poor Rural Women in Bangladesh Are Paying Most for Climate Risks," May 2022. https://pubs.iied.org/sites/de-fault/files/pdfs/2022-05/20851iied.pdf

heavy rainfall, affected the most households in Satkhira. 146 Separately, humanitarian responses repeatedly highlight the trafficking risk to affected women and girls where protection responses are inadequate. 147

Slow-onset processes can devastate livelihoods, though their impact is more difficult to quantify. Across the region, affected communities have made changes to adapt, many switching from subsistence activities in farming, fishing, and forestry activity to paid work in the same or new and emerging sectors. Initially, widescale rice farming gave way for land-based fish farming, particularly shrimp. The farmers who remain must contend with erratic, unreliable seasons. Farmers must often adapt multiple times: some farmers who took loans in 2021 to diversify their crops in response to changing weather patterns have begun defaulting as reduced rainfall in 2022 has meant a poor return on investment.¹⁴⁸

Alongside cyclones and sea level rises, human interference — from dams designed to hold back floodwaters to intentional saltwater flooding — have made freshwater ponds and rivers more saline. ¹⁴⁹ Salinity intrusion makes it harder for saline intolerant crops, trees, and fish to grow, as well as reducing the availability of fresh drinking water for humans and livestock alike. It triggered the rapid rise in landbased fish farming and now programmes exist to support the growth of saline-resistant crops and trees, the latter part of well-established reforestation and afforestation programmes.

The struggle for centuries-old Sundari trees to survive in saline waters, ¹⁵⁰ as well as illegal logging, undermines the area's natural defences against extreme weather. As subsequent floods and cyclones reach further inland, freshwaters become more

brackish, killing more trees. The result is a vicious cycle between sudden- and slow-onset impacts, exacerbated by lawful and unlawful natural resource exploitation. The consequences for local people are more devastating extreme weather events without the protective cover of the trees. This leads to increased losses, driving financial precarity and potentially the fallback on negative coping mechanisms, including TIP.

Climate-related losses can increase risk exposure to trafficking

Traffickers still favour those in financially difficult situations and 'ordinary' people sometimes turn to trafficking when they face financial difficulty themselves. Environmental disasters can tip people in financial difficulty over the edge, making job offers that may have come across as dubious seem timely and relevant. As one survivor shared, "during floods, I used to live in complete poverty with insufficient food... when someone promised me a high income [through work abroad] ... I thought she was just thinking about my family".¹⁵¹

In the Sundarbans, where poverty and forced labour are documented but less visible, "the situation so desperate that women are catching cow dung for fuel before it has even fallen to the ground". The desperation is underlined by the wages on offer in the fake jobs presented, in one case just BDT 10,000 (USD 105), which is just a little higher than she would have received in a shrimp processing factory and less than a school teacher would get. The situation is simple to stand the situation of the same should get.

Financial leverage often combines with the convenience of location and the disappearance of family and community protections. People on the move,

¹⁴⁶ Start Network Bangladesh. "Khulna, Bangladesh Water Logging & Tidal Bore - Briefing Note – 20 September, 2020 - Bangladesh | ReliefWeb." Accessed August 16, 2022. https://re-liefweb.int/report/bangladesh/khulna-bangladesh-water-logging-tidal-bore-briefing-note-20-september-2020.

ging-tidal-bore-briefing-note-20-september-2020.

147 See for example UN Bangladesh. "HCTT Response Plan: Cyclone Amphan," June 2020. https://fscluster.org/sites/default/files/documents/31.05.2020 final draft hctt cyclone amphan response plan.pdf.

¹⁴⁸ Disruption to Bangladesh's six seasons (sadartu) is making it harder for farmers to know when to plant and harvest, affecting yield.

¹⁴⁹ The natural tilt of the Bengal Basin approximately 1,000 years ago predisposed the Sundarbans to higher than average levels of salinity. Aziz, Abdul, and Ashit Ranjan Paul. "Bangladesh Sundarbans: Present Status of the Environment and Biota." Diversity 7, no. 3 (September 2015): 242–69. https://doi.org/10.3390/d7030242.

¹⁵⁰ Bangladesh Forest Department. "Bangladesh Forestry Master Plan 2017-2036."

¹⁵¹ Interview #31, 12 August.

¹⁵² Interview #17, 11 August.

¹⁵³ In high season, the work of shelling and beheading shrimps can fetch BDT 8,000-10,000, depending on performance. Interview #21, 10 August.

whether displaced or not, and those living in non-traditional (or "broken") families, were targeted by traffickers. Survivors described traffickers, mostly known to them and therefore somewhat trusted, travelling with them over the border and effectively delivering them to new employers.

Women and girls face specific financial and cultural challenges

Gender-based violence, especially of female-headed households, perpetuates social norms that are used to justify the exploitation of women. High levels of male labour emigration, driven by limited local opportunity among other factors, makes female-headed households in some areas relatively common. Divorcees, orphans, step-children — most frequently female — are more likely to be dependent on non-direct family members, who may leverage familial trust to deceive.

Other environmental issues can entrench patriarchal norms and make women more vulnerable. Freshwater shortages contribute to hardship, the desire to migrate, and sexual exploitation. Women and girls must travel further distances for drinking water, increasing risks of sexual harassment on isolated routes.¹⁵⁵ With proper hygiene impossible, some take contraceptive pills to interrupt menstrual cycles. 156 Women and girls working in land-based fishing face harassment from male owners and workers, especially those "required to dive under the water to catch shrimp fry". The sighting of saltwater crocodiles, now more comfortable in the brackish waters near farms, adds terror to precarity.¹⁵⁷ When there's flooding, children cannot go to school, and harassment may increase.158

https://www.undp.org/bangladesh/news/every-drop-counts-increasing-water-security-coastal-areas-bangladesh.

The pursuit of alternative livelihoods raise further ecological questions

Decent jobs would be a bulwark against trafficking risk. Yet the three key areas in which local jobs are being created also highlight a keen tension between economy, ecology and poverty:

- 1. Khulna's Rampal and Orion coal plants are seen as critical to meeting Bangladesh's growing energy demand, perhaps powering the industries that will lift thousands of climate-affected people out of poverty. Yet the waste from the coal mines needed to serve them has seen the loss of fish, crops, and clean water¹⁵⁹ and locally the extent and implications of water, air, and land pollution is disputed.
- 2. The Sundarbans mangrove forest is a carbon sink of global ecological¹⁶⁰ and national social and economic importance,¹⁶¹ and its protection is critical to mitigating the effect of emissions, including from Rampal Power Plant. To allow several fish species to recover during breeding seasons, the government implemented a three-month ban on entry and economic activity. The 180,000 or so people dependent on the forests to make a living are reliant on aid during this time. Even without the ban, most people reliant on the forest are unlicensed and their means of survival unlawful.
- 3. The earlier flooding of rice paddies with salty water to farm shrimp, crab, and other

docs.worldbank.org/en/848671521827530395/FMP-Full-report-final.pdf.

¹⁵⁴ Interview #26, 14 August.

¹⁵⁵ Interview #16, 10 August. Our interview suggested they now had to walk 5-6km which, if true, is nearly double UNDP's 2021 estimate. UNDP. "Every Drop Counts: Increasing Water Security in Coastal Areas of Bangladesh | United Nations Development Programme." UNDP. Accessed August 15, 2022.

¹⁵⁶ Interview #30, 14 August.

¹⁵⁷ Interview #19, 11 August.

¹⁵⁸ Interview #16, 10 August.

¹⁵⁹ Farukh, Murad, Liza Akter, and Md Islam. "Impact of Trans-Boundary Coal Mines on Water Quality of Receiving Streams in North-Eastern Bangladesh." Journal of Bangladesh Agricultural University, no. 0 (2022): 1. https://doi.org/10.5455/JBAU.138730.

¹⁶⁰ "Mangrove forests only account for 0.5% of the total coastal ocean area, but are responsible for 14% of carbon sequestration by the global ocean." A study found that factory emissions in Kolkata were 98% sequestered by the Sundarbans. Connecticut College. "Carbon Sequestration – Life in the Sundarbans Mangrove Forest." Accessed August 15, 2022. http://uddin.digital.conncoll.edu/sundarbans/global/carbon/.

¹⁶¹ Perhaps 10 million people across Bangladesh make a living from forest-dependent business overall. Bangladesh Forest Department. "Climate Resilient Participatory Afforestation and Reforestation Project: Bangladesh Forestry Master Plan 2017-2036," 2016. https://pub-

land-based fish farm saw exports flourish for some time. The shrimp and crab industries are crucial employers in the region. Yet the intensity of farming saw fish-borne viruses flourish, while consolidation in the sector has seen land grabs that have made some landless. On-land fish farming can itself lead to the collapse of fish stocks (and subsistence livelihoods) through fishing for "trash feed". 162

The criminal justice system is affected in unpredictable ways

Responses suggest the criminal justice system in Bangladesh is adapting too. Finding the resources and overcoming the stigma to bring cases requires support and so displaced, transient, and foreign victims can find it harder to bring perpetrators to justice. The police and the courts can find it difficult to work with displaced persons with no fixed address. The speed of climate-induced change may be matched only by technological advancements, with the criminal justice system needing to adapt fast to both and digital literacy generally low.¹⁶³ Access to justice remains an issue for victims.



December 2020): 429–44. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40152-020-00199-7

¹⁶² Jackson, Bethany, Doreen S. Boyd, Christopher D. Ives, Jessica L. Decker Sparks, Giles M. Foody, Stuart Marsh, and Kevin Bales. "Remote Sensing of Fish-Processing in the Sundarbans Reserve Forest, Bangladesh: An Insight into the Modern Slavery-Environment Nexus in the Coastal Fringe." Maritime Studies 19, no. 4 (1

¹⁶³ Interview #27, 11 August.

Box 3. Onima*

We didn't have any wage-earning brother, so we sisters used to grow spinach and other vegetables to sell in the market, not far from the border with India. During storms and floods, it was impossible to grow crops and so we used to live in complete poverty. There was a woman who had been coming to our village for months. She was a trader and would regularly come by to try and sell her goods, often striking up conversation with the family when she did. At the time we were in crisis, she said she could help. She claimed that as a domestic helper abroad, I could earn 7,000-8,000 BDT (73-84 USD) each month, which was about ten times what I had been earning at the market. Given our situation, it was difficult to say no. And anyway, we were quite familiar with her by that point, and assumed she was just trying to help.

After a few days, we rode a motorbike together to the border, then walked to the other side. We went to the train station, where we met another man and the woman left me. Eventually we reached Mumbai, where I worked in a brothel. One day, the brothel owner took me and others in the brothel to the market, to show me off. I ran away and found a police officer, who rescued me. Now I'm back in Bangladesh and being supported by an NGO.

* Onima' is a pseudonym and some details have been merged or changed to protect anonymity.

Part 5. Framing the response



Environmental degradation triggers events and processes that make it difficult or impossible for some people to make a living. The options available to affected populations are often severely limited, especially among those with fewer assets, education and social capital living in societies that discriminate against them. Women, ethnic minorities, Indigenous Peoples, people living with disabilities are among those who more often fall into these categories.

To cope with the situation, affected people may engage in coping strategies that expose them to further risks, including SOM and TIP. Existing interventions span alternative livelihoods, land rights, social and behaviour change communications, and efforts to increase civil litigation in the environmental sphere. ¹⁶⁴ Opportunities exist to scale, target, and integrate interventions that work. Effective responses that integrate a human rights perspective must fulfil key criteria:

- 1. Realistic the scale and complexity of TIP, SOM and environmental crime is likely to continue to exceed the capacity of states to prevent and prosecute it. 165 As extreme weather events and other issues increase in frequency and severity, law enforcement agencies will be increasingly stretched, tasked with emergency response and law enforcement. Climate often competes for attention from policymakers dealing with the current urgent economic and health fallout from the COVID-19 pandemic.
- 2. Holistic crime prevention must be accompanied by efforts to tackle the socioeconomic root causes that make people experience vulnerability, equip them with the knowledge and options to manage risks, address structural issues in the community and wider society, and make all

stakeholders — from potential victims to law enforcement — aware of the modus operandi of smugglers and traffickers.

3. Sensitive to gendered and other inequalities the exclusion of women from decision-making in developing TIP and SOM risk mitigation measures makes those measures less likely to be effective. From a climate adaptation perspective, the absence of women from innovation processes, such as the development of climate change mitigation technology, slows innovation, diffusion and uptake. 166 There are similar challenges with the systematic exclusion of minority groups from the development of strategies and measures, though the importance of Indigenous Knowledge in climate adaptation is increasingly acknowledged.¹⁶⁷ Adaptation strategies also risk placing disproportionate pressure on those least able to adapt, often women, rather than those with the resources and influence to effectively mitigate harm. Additionally, focus on criminal justice responses must not obscure the limitations of adaptation, where the speed of environmental change and frequency of extreme events can render obsolete even well-executed and -financed adaptation.¹⁶⁸

Furthermore, Indigenous peoples may be more vulnerable to irregular migration such as trafficking and smuggling due to sudden displacement by a climactic event, limited legal migration options and limited opportunities to make informed choices.¹⁶⁹

4. Politically sensitive - Internal and international migration are sometimes the most viable adaptation strategy¹⁷⁰ but legal and managed migra-

https://www.unodc.org/documents/human-trafficking/GLO-ACTII/UNODC Toolkit for mainstreaming Human Rights and Gender Equality February 2021.pdf.

¹⁶⁴ See upcoming paper from UNODC's Global Programme for Combating Wildlife and Forest Crime and Global Maritime Crime Programme on the nexus between climate change, illegal exploitation of natural resources, marine pollution and UNODC mandate

¹⁶⁵ Gerrard, Michael B. "Climate Change and Human Trafficking after the Paris Agreement." University of Miami Law Review 72 (2018 2017): 345. And understanding of SOM continues to lag behind TIP. UNODC. "UNODC Toolkit for Mainstreaming Human Rights and Gender Equality," February 2021.

¹⁶⁶ Loarne-Lemaire, Séverine Le, Gaël Bertrand, Meriam Razgallah, Adnane Maalaoui, and Andreas Kallmuenzer. "Women in Innova-

tion Processes as a Solution to Climate Change: A Systematic Literature Review and an Agenda for Future Research." Technological Forecasting and Social Change 164 (1 March 2021): 120440. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techfore.2020.120440.

¹⁶⁷ IPCC. "Climate Change 2022: Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability."

¹⁶⁸ Expert in climate change and gender, Dhaka. Interview #1, 21 June 2022.

¹⁶⁹ Ibid; ILO, 'Implementing the ILO Indigenous and Tribal Peoples Convention No. 169: Towards an Inclusive, Sustainable and Just Future'. https://www.ilo.org/global/publications/books/WCMS 735607/lang--en/index.htm. .

¹⁷⁰ Chapter 9, in IOM. "World Migration Report 2022".

tion options remain rare, increasing risk exposure to unsafe irregular migration and TIP.¹⁷¹ Similarly, border management is an integral part of a comprehensive migration policy but can create new crises and opportunities for TIP and SOM where human rights concerns are not effectively operationalised.

The formal and globally consistent recognition of climate-related drivers of (irregular) migration could expand the protection space by providing access to legal status, residence rights, and aid¹⁷² — but could be double-edged, with the unintended effect of prompting policies to reduce the perceived burden on destination states. For example, further restrictions on legal pathways to reduce arrivals.¹⁷³

- 5. Sensitive to existing efforts to address climate change, biodiversity loss and its impacts - sustainable practices to address climate change and its resultant effects must account for and seek to integrate traditional knowledge systems, and adaptation strategies to "mainstream biodiversity and catalyse collective action to address the drivers of biodiversity loss [and] restore ecosystems".174 For example, Indigenous knowledge on resource governance, land rights, mitigation of climate change impact on their environment and resilience-building through the use of their traditional knowledge can make visible and help to counter harmful business practices.175
- 6. Data-driven the technology exists to vastly improve insights into the evolving trends of SOM and TIP, especially as perpetrators' modus operandi moves increasingly online. However,

- government willingness and/ or capacity to share data is often limited.¹⁷⁶ While data sharing would probably improve investigations, it also exposes the prevalence of the problem.
- 7. Coherent some responses designed to help people adapt to environmental change or reduce migration-related risks may result in new risks.¹⁷⁷ Adaptation and mitigation strategies can have unintended consequences. Fish farms with the potential to relieve pressure on dwindling fish stocks may cause more harm by creating demand for 'trash feed'. 178 Renewable energy sources are essential in transitioning to net zero but have the same social risks of any other infrastructure megaproject. Migration may initially offer a viable adaptation strategy but can introduce new risks if socioeconomic integration at destination is unsuccessful, 179 both socially and environmentally, as new arrivals may rely on environmentally harmful coping strategies.

¹⁷¹ Additionally, the "state-led Platform for Disaster Displacement, (PDD), has highlighted the absence of international legal provisions to protect displaced persons in the context of disasters and the adverse effects of climate change" but does not advocate for new legally-binding standards on admissions and return, perhaps because of their "likely failure". UN. "Addressing the Gender Dimensions of Trafficking in Persons in the Context of Climate Change, Displacement, and Disaster Risk Reduction: Report of the Special Rapporteur on Trafficking in Persons, Especially Women and Children, Siobhán Mullally," 2022.

 $^{^{172}\,\}mathrm{Sheu}$, Jessica C. et al. "Potential Impact of Climate Change on Human Trafficking."

¹⁷³ Ihid

¹⁷⁴ UNSCEB. "UN Common Approach to Biodiversity | United Nations - CEB." Accessed July 28, 2022. https://unsceb.org/un-common-approach-biodiversity.

¹⁷⁵ UNSCEB, '50+ ways to integrate biodiversity and nature-based solutions – a UN system commitment to collective action for people and planet,' https://unsceb.org/sites/de-fault/files/2022-01/Biodiversity_Common_Ap-proach_50%2B_ways_to_integrate_biodiversity_and_nature-based_solutions.pdf.

¹⁷⁶ UNODC, "Global Report on Trafficking in Persons 2020."

 $^{^{177}\}mbox{IPCC}.$ "Climate Change 2022: Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability."

¹⁷⁸ Jackson, Bethany, Doreen S. Boyd, Christopher D. Ives, Jessica L. Decker Sparks, Giles M. Foody, Stuart Marsh, and Kevin Bales. "Remote Sensing of Fish-Processing in the Sundarbans Reserve Forest, Bangladesh.

¹⁷⁹ Ibid.

Recommendations



Strategies, policies and research

- Consistently integrate an intersectional approach to gender equality and mobility perspectives into climate adaptation strategies. While strategies consistently consider climatemobility and climate-gender linkages, there is scope to more systematically consider the three together. Taking this intersectional perspective into account to recognize interrelated identity factors can help stakeholders to dismantle the layers of inequality and discrimination, which disproportionately affects women and girls, and may hamper response to trafficking in persons and smuggling of migrants.
- 2. (Continue to) shift attention and resources to slow-onset processes. Disasters with high mortality and property destruction will consume more attention and resources as they increase in intensity and severity. Yet slow-onset events are readily identifiable and may contribute to a greater scale of unsafe migration, exploitation through trafficking, public health, and gender-based violence.
- 3. Integrate human rights and gender transformative criminal justice perspectives into climate adaptation research and programming. Crimes that affect the environment often compound the effects of climate change, undermining livelihoods and the ability to withstand economic shocks from climate-related and other events. Crime prevention strategies will be a key pillar in the effectiveness of adaptation and mitigation.
- 4. Incorporate the Women, Peace, and Security (WPS) Agenda in climate adaptation talks and decision-making. It is essential to recognize the critical role of women in addressing security threats, including climate change, which drives insecurity both through direct negative impacts on environmental systems and through secondary risks such as political instability, population displacements, poverty, and hunger. Using

- the WPS Agenda to mainstream the disproportionate impacts of climate change on women and the security threats they pose and ensuring women's meaningful participation in climate interventions will strengthen the response to climate change across the board.¹⁸⁰
- 5. Advocate for the private sector, especially the responsible business and responsible investor communities, to contribute to the costs of adaptation and crime prevention. While standards for responsible investing in climate-vulnerable countries include robust mechanisms for assessing the social impact and risk (and more regulation is on the way), they are often limited to addressing immediate impacts. The longerterm risks of exploitation, for example the trafficking risk to communities resettled to make way for an infrastructure project, are often out of scope, despite the additional pressure this may place on law enforcement.
- 6. Invest in criminal justice-aware climate research. While research into climate and migration and mobility is common, crime prevention is less often considered, despite the threat posed. More evidence is needed of the extent to which crime is already limiting the effectiveness of some climate mitigation approaches, especially where perpetrators represent industries involved in exploitative and illegal labour practices.
- 7. Explore the potential of big data to augment crime detection and investigation capacity. Tools to track illicit financial flows, flag suspicious transactions, track advertisements and conversations on social media platforms used for recruitment, and recognise the faces of missing persons are already supporting law enforcement, even as ethical issues are debated. Although the relevance and acceptability of machine learning models in crime prevention and investigation is contested and possibilities are limited by the availability of data, there may be opportunities to more efficiently analyse data on known risk factors, including environmental

¹⁸⁰ Chiu, Clara and Jessica Smith. "What Does Climate Change Have to Do With Women, Peace, and Security? A Lot." Georgetown Institute for Women, Peace and Security. March 3, 2022.

¹⁸¹ UNODC. "Successful Strategies for Addressing the Use of Technology to Facilitate Trafficking in Persons and to Prevent and Investigate Trafficking in Persons," July 23, 2021. https://doi.org/10.1163/2210-7975_HRD-9988-0006.

harm, as it becomes more known and quantified.

Legislation

- 8. Recognize environmental degradation as a factor in unsafe migration. Laws and policies on internal displacement and migration should recognise climate change as a factor and explicitly address the needs of affected victims, for example by ascribing basic rights, social protections and compensation. Emergency relocations will need to continue and expand, taking gender-specific needs into account, alongside longer-term relocation solutions, such as those pursued by Small Island Developing States.
- 9. Hold private business to account for environmental crimes that directly affect livelihoods and incomes. Compensation mechanisms and legal assistance to help affected populations bringing civil cases where environmental harm undermines livelihoods leading to displacement and exploitation. Strategic litigation could more firmly link climate, aggravated forms of smuggling, and TIP in judicial and broader public consciousness.

Capacity building

- 10. Fund law enforcement adaptation in climate-vulnerable countries. In many climate-vulnerable countries, law enforcement are first responders to disaster as well as to TIP, SOM and environmental crime. This further stretches institutions at the forefront of the climate crisis. Priorities should be outlined by states, for example in National Adaptation Plans, but could include: speeding the recruitment of women in disaster-prone areas, and TIP training for disaster first responders.
- 11. Promote knowledge of displacement and exploitation stemming from environmental

¹⁸² UN. "Addressing the Gender Dimensions of Trafficking in Persons in the Context of Climate Change, Displacement, and Disaster Risk Reduction: Report of the Special Rapporteur on Trafficking in Persons, Especially Women and Children, Siobhán Mullally," 2022.

- among law enforcement. Even where legislation is sensitive to the evolving ways in which smugglers and traffickers are operating, law enforcement is often less aware of the complexities involved in migration decision-making, the manipulation of trafficking victims, and the broader dynamics of coercion and control. Training modules could be evolved to integrate more case studies of climate-related displacement, gender considerations, unsafe migration, and exploitation.
- 12. Establish capacity within law enforcement agencies to liaise with the agencies and personnel responsible for tackling environmental crime. Environmental crimes may be a civil matter, with civilian agencies mandated with monitoring and prevention. Investing in police capacity to assist these agencies could make investigations faster and more effective.

Adaptation

- 13. Increase financial resilience of people affected by slow-onset processes. Less attention is given to the role of slow-onset processes in increasing poverty among people less protected by social or financial systems, 183 despite the association of financial hardship with a range of negative coping mechanisms, including those which undermine climate mitigation and adaptation efforts, and increasing the risks of exploitation and unsafe migration. Measures to increase resilience and reduce risk exposure include alternative livelihoods, 184 improved awareness of the need for climate-affected populations to access social protection mechanisms, and innovative forms of insurance suitable to mobile populations with multiple vulnerabilities.
- 14. Promote coherent and mutually reinforcing adaptation and anti-TIP programming. Common factors are often associated with increased TIP and climate-related risks in the same affected communities. While there may be opportunities

¹⁸³ UN. "Addressing the Gender Dimensions of Trafficking in Persons in the Context of Climate Change, Displacement, and Disaster Risk Reduction: Report of the Special Rapporteur on Trafficking in Persons, Especially Women and Children, Siobhán Mullally," 2022.

¹⁸⁴ UNODC, "Global Report on Trafficking in Persons 2020".

for synergetic joint programming, the first step should be to avoid programming in either area creating unintended consequences in the other. An expert-led "joint social-ecological approach" could ensure that both issues are treated evenly.¹⁸⁵

Dialogue and cooperation

- 15. Create space for collaboration between law enforcement, disaster response, environmental regulatory, and climate planning agencies. There is a common challenge across government agencies to anticipate ecological and social harms related to climate change and exacerbated by crime. Better understanding of the relation between each other's work can streamline referrals and sharing of information.
- 16. Bring together alternative livelihoods actors, including women, to exchange best practice and improve coherence. Local, national and international public, private and non-profit actors employ livelihoods approaches to support climate adaptation, reduce TIP risk, and more. There is common interest in lessons learned and future, potentially collaborative planning that addresses the threat to natural resource-based livelihoods, gender-specific needs and considerations, and adverse consequences to ensure no one is left behind.
- 17. Engage the private sector more fully in making social media TIP and SOM free. National authorities will need the support of private companies to create a "trafficking free environment" on social media. 186 Companies such as Meta, which runs Facebook, have taken steps to understand how their platforms are used in diverse contexts. Forums that help technology companies to understand the implication of their products in transnational organised crime could open the way for more direct collaboration with the international community and national criminal justice systems on crime prevention strategies.

Change," May 2022. http://owncloud.unog.ch/s/kFQa8RmZP4mSGn9.

¹⁸⁵ University of Nottingham Rights Lab. "University of Nottingham Rights Lab (Dr Bethany Jackson) Contribution to OHCHR Call for Inputs: Trafficking of Persons in the Context of Climate

Bibliography



ACAPS, and Start Network. 'Disaster Summary Sheet: Bangladesh - Riverbank Erosion (21 March 2019) - Bangladesh'. Accessed 15 August 2022. https://re-liefweb.int/report/bangladesh/disaster-summary-sheet-bangladesh-riverbank-erosion-21-march-2019.

Accenture. 'Exploitative Labor Practices in the Global Shrimp Industry', 2013. http://humanityunited.org/pdfs/Accenture Shrimp Report.pdf.

Adams, Helen. 'Why Populations Persist: Mobility, Place Attachment and Climate Change'. Population and Environment 37, no. 4 (June 2016): 429–48. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11111-015-0246-3.

African Union. 'African Union Climate Change and Resilient Development Strategy Action Plan', 2032 2022. https://au.int/sites/default/files/documents/41959-doc-CC_Strategy_and_Action_Plan_2022-2032_23_06_22_ENGLISH-compressed.pdf.

Afrin, N., U. Habiba, R. R. Das, S. T. Auyon, and M. A. Islam. 'Impact and Vulnerability Assessment on Climate Change of Jessore and Mymensingh Districts in Bangladesh'. Progressive Agriculture 29, no. 4 (2018): 320–35.

Ahmed, Istiakh, Sonja Ayeb-Karlsson, Kees van der Geest, Saleemul Huq, and Joanne Catherine Jordan. 'Climate Change, Environmental Stress and Loss of Livelihoods Can Push People towards Illegal Activities: A Case Study from Coastal Bangladesh: Climate and Development: Vol 11, No 10'. Accessed 20 July 2022.

https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/175 65529.2019.1586638?journalCode=tcld20.

Akbar. 'Rohingya Relocated to Remote Island against Their Will, Rights Groups Say'. BBC News, 2020, sec. Asia. https://www.bbc.com/news/world-asia-55177688.

Alam, Julhas. 'For Climate Migrants in Bangladesh, Town Offers New Life'. ABC News. Accessed 20 August 2022. https://abcnews.go.com/International/wireStory/climate-migrants-bangladesh-town-offers-life-83755907.

Alam, Md. Zakiul, and Abdullah Al Mamun. 'Dynamics of Internal Migration in Bangladesh: Trends, Patterns, Determinants, and Causes'. PLoS ONE 17, no. 2 (14 February 2022): e0263878. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0263878.

Asian Development Bank. 'Khulna Sewerage System Development Project: Report and Recommendation

of the President: Climate Change Assessment'. Accessed 13 August 2022. https://www.adb.org/sites/default/files/linked-documents/49329-007-cca.pdf.

Aziz, Abdul, and Ashit Ranjan Paul. 'Bangladesh Sundarbans: Present Status of the Environment and Biota'. Diversity 7, no. 3 (September 2015): 242–69. https://doi.org/10.3390/d7030242.

Bangladesh Bureau of Statistics, and International Labour Organization. 'Working Children in Dry Fish Industry in Bangladesh', December 2011. https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---asia/---ro-bangkok/---ilo-dhaka/documents/publi-

cation/wcms_173352.pdf.

Bangladesh Forest Department. 'Climate Resilient Participatory Afforestation and Reforestation Project: Bangladesh Forestry Master Plan 2017-2036', 2016. https://pub-

docs.worldbank.org/en/848671521827530395/FMP -Full-report-final.pdf.

Bangladeshi Trafficking Victims Tell of Torture by Smugglers, 2015.

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=6ElB3cAVJiY.
Bharadwaj, Ritu, Danielle Bishop, and Somnath Hazra. 'Climate-Induced Migration and Modern Slavery', September 2021. https://www.antislavery.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/09/ClimateMigrationReportSep2021 low res.pdf.

Bharadwaj, Ritu, Devanshu Chakravarti, N Karthikeyan, Somnath Hazra, Umi Daniel, Johnson Topno, and Raashee Abhilashi. 'Climate Change, Migration and Vulnerability to Trafficking', May 2022. https://pubs.iied.org/20936iied.

Bhuyan, Md Owasim Uddin. 'Bangladesh Asked to Prosecute Smugglers of Unaccompanied Minors to Europe'. Prothomalo, 2021. https://en.protho-malo.com/bangladesh/bangladesh-asked-to-prose-cute-smugglers-of-unaccompanied-minors-to-europe.

Brenner, Yermi, and MMC. 'Rohingya Migration to India: Patterns, Drivers, and Experiences', April 2019. https://mixedmigration.org/wp-content/up-

<u>loads/2019/04/063</u> briefing-paper Rohingya India.pdf.

Bronfenbrenner, Urie. Toward an Experimental Ecology of Human Development.' American Psychologist 32, no. 7 (1977): 513–31. https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066X.32.7.513.

Brown, David, Doreen S Boyd, Katherine Brickell, Christopher D Ives, Nithya Natarajan, and Laurie Parsons. 'Modern Slavery, Environmental Degradation and Climate Change: Fisheries, Field, Forests and Factories'. Environment and Planning E: Nature and Space 4, no. 2 (1 June 2021): 191–207. https://doi.org/10.1177/2514848619887156.
Bundeszentrale für politische. 'International Migration from Bangladesh - Country Profile Bangladesh - Migration'. bpb.de. Accessed 19 August 2022. https://www.bpb.de/themen/migration-integration/laenderprofile/english-version-country-profiles/216104/international-migration-from-bangladesh/.

Bureau of Manpower Employment and Training. 'Overseas Employment and Remittances (Country Wise - Yearly) From 1976-2022 (Up to July)', July 2022. http://www.old.bmet.gov.bd/BMET/stattisticalDataAction.

Burianski, Markus, Mark Clarke, Federico Kuhnle, and Gwen Wackwitz. 'Climate Change Litigation in Africa: Current Status and Future Developments | White & Case LLP', 9 November 2021. https://www.white-case.com/publications/insight/africa-focus-autumn-2021/climate-change-litigation-africa. Carrilho, Luís. 'Police as First Responders to the Global Climate Crisis'. The Conversation (blog), 7 October 2019. https://medium.com/we-the-peoples/police-as-first-responders-to-the-global-climate-crisis-d4896f4d8ec.

Carver, Dominic. 'What Were the Outcomes of COP26?', 27 January 2022. https://commonslibrary.parliament.uk/what-were-the-outcomes-of-cop26/.

Castañeda Carney, Itza, Laura Sabater, Cate Owren,

and A.E. Boyer. Gender-Based Violence and Environment Linkages: The Violence of Inequality. Edited by Jamie Wen. IUCN, International Union for Conservation of Nature. 2020. https://doi.org/10.2305/IUCN.CH.2020.03.en. Centre for Land Warfare Studies. 'Modernising Border Management: Lessons from India-Bangladesh Border', February 2022. https://www.claws.in/static/IB-326 Modernising-Border-Management-Lessons-from-India-Bangladesh-Border.pdf.

Clement, Viviane, Kanta Kumari Rigaud, Alex de Sherbinin, Bryan Jones, Susana Adamo, Jacob Schewe, Nian Sadiq, and Elham Shabahat. 'Groundswell Part 2: Acting on Internal Climate Migration'. Washington, DC: World Bank, 13 September 2021. https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/handle/10986/36248.

Climate Vulnerable Forum. 'Members'. CVF (blog). Accessed 2 July 2022. https://thecvf.org/members/. Google Docs. 'Climate-TIP/ SOM - Bangladesh Case Study Input'. Accessed 20 July 2022. https://docs.google.com/forms/d/e/1FAlpQLSera0YJyT3wLUdQ3ReBVwjRBYLoGYNFfLVd7gpQ-22iGLk59Q/view-

form?usp=forms home&ths=true&usp=embed facebook.

Cockayne, James, Edgar Rodríguez-Huerta, and Oana Burcu. 'The Energy of Freedom? Solar Energy, Modern Slavery and the Just Transition', March 2022. https://www.thebritishacademy.ac.uk/docu-

ments/4198/Just-transitions-energy-freedom.pdf.
Connecticut College. 'Carbon Sequestration – Life in the Sundarbans Mangrove Forest'. Accessed 15 August 2022. http://uddin.digital.conncoll.edu/sundarbans/qlobal/carbon/.

Dasgupta, Susmita, David Wheeler, Sunando Bandyopadhyay, Santadas Ghosh, and Utpal Roy. 'Coastal Dilemma: Climate Change, Public Assistance and Population Displacement'. World Development 150 (1 February 2022): 105707. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.worlddev.2021.105707.

Dasgupta, Susmita, David Wheeler, Md. Istiak Sobhan, Sunando Bandyopadhyay, Ainun Nishat, and Tapas Paul. Coping with Climate Change in the Sundarbans: Lessons from Multidisciplinary Studies. The World Bank, 2021. https://doi.org/10.1596/978-1-4648-1587-4.

December 2021, UNODC Observatory on Smuggling of Migrants-First Edition | 8. 'Migration Smuggling to Morocco and the Western Mediterranean'. ArcGIS StoryMaps, 24 May 2022. https://storymaps.arcgis.com/sto-

ries/02059636e2fb441f8cd074a310869d7e.

Decker Sparks, Jessica L., Doreen S. Boyd, Bethany Jackson, Christopher D. Ives, and Kevin Bales. 'Growing Evidence of the Interconnections between Modern Slavery, Environmental Degradation, and Climate Change'. One Earth 4, no. 2 (19 February 2021): 181–91. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.oneear.2021.01.015.
Deol. 'Ground Report: How Cyclones Amphan & Yaas Pushed Girls from the Sundarbans into Trafficking', 2022. https://www.downtoearth.org.in/news/governance/ground-report-how-cyclones-amphan-

yaas-pushed-girls-from-the-sundarbans-into-traf-ficking-83375.

Department of Women & Child Development and Social Welfare. 'MoU between India and Bangladesh on Bilateral Cooperation for Prevention of Human Trafficking', n.d.

http://wbcdwdsw.gov.in/wbtf_link/pdf/MoU_between_India and Bangladesh on Bilateral Cooperation for Prevention of Human Trafficking.pdf. Dhaka Tribune. '2 More TikTok Traffickers Held in Satkhira'. Dhaka Tribune, 2021. https://archive.dhakatribune.com/bangladesh/nation/2021/06/07/2-moretiktok-traffickers-held-in-satkhira.

Dixit. 'On Migrants from Bangladesh Being Trafficked in India'. The Hindu, 12 September 2016, sec. Comment. https://www.thehindu.com/opinion/oped/Transit-at-Gojadanga/article14634931.ece.

Donovan, Louise. 'Taking on Traffickers at the World's Largest Refugee Site'. UNHCR, 2019. https://www.unhcr.org/en-in/news/sto-

<u>ries/2019/12/5ddbafa04/taking-traffickers-worlds-largest-refugee-site.html.</u>

EJOLT. 'Environmental Justice Atlas', 2020. https://ejatlas.org/print/illegal-logging-and-dis-placement-of-landless-peasants-in-colniza-mato-grosso-brazil.

Emergency Capacity Building Project. 'Bangladesh: Hundreds of Thousands Still Homeless Three Months after Cyclone Aila - Bangladesh', 24 August 2009. https://reliefweb.int/report/bangladesh/bangladesh-hundreds-thousands-still-homeless-threemonths-after-cyclone-aila.

Environmental Justice Foundation. 'Desert in the Delta: A Report on the Environmental, Human Rights and Social Impacts of Shrimp Production in Bangladesh', 2004. https://ejfoundation.org/resources/downloads/desert in the delta.pdf.

———. 'Smash and Grab: Conflict, Corruption & Human Rights Abuses in the Shrimp Farming Industry', 2003. https://ejfoundation.org/resources/downloads/smash and grab.pdf.

Erin, McFee. 'IOM Abstract Submission', May 2022. Eskander, Shaikh, Paul Steele, Mamunur Rashid, Nuzhat Imam, and Sirazoom Munira. 'How Poor Rural Women in Bangladesh Are Paying Most for Climate Risks', May 2022. https://pubs.iied.org/sites/default/files/pdfs/2022-05/20851iied.pdf.

European Commission. 'COP26: EU Announces €1 Billion Pledge to Protect Forests'. Text. European Commission - European Commission. Accessed 26

June 2022. <u>https://ec.europa.eu/commission/presscorner/detail/en/ip_21_5678</u>.

Faroque, Sarker, and Nigel South. 'Law-Enforcement Challenges, Responses and Collaborations Concerning Environmental Crimes and Harms in Bangladesh'. International Journal of Offender Therapy and Comparative Criminology 66, no. 4 (March 2022): 389–406. https://doi.org/10.1177/0306624X20969938. Farukh, Murad, Liza Akter, and Md Islam. 'Impact of Trans-Boundary Coal Mines on Water Quality of Receiving Streams in North-Eastern Bangladesh'. Journal of Bangladesh Agricultural University, no. 0 (2022): 1. https://doi.org/10.5455/JBAU.138730. FATF. 'Money Laundering and Terrorist Financing Risks Arising from Migrant Smuggling', 2022. https://www.fatf-gafi.org/media/fatf/documents/MI_TE-Risks-Arising-from-Migrant-Smuggling'

ments/ML-TF-Risks-Arising-from-Migrant-Smuggling.pdf.

'Framework Convention on Climate Change: Report of the Conference of the Parties on Its Sixteenth Session, Held in Cancun from 29 November to 10 December 2010'. Accessed 21 July 2022. https://unfccc.int/re-

source/docs/2010/cop16/eng/07a01.pdf#page=7. France 24. 'Bangladesh Plans to Move 81,000 Rohingya to Island after UN Deal: Officials'. France 24, 8 October 2021. https://www.france24.com/en/live-news/20211008-bangladesh-plans-to-move-81-000-rohingya-to-island-after-un-deal-officials. Freedom Collective. 'Collected Data on the Trafficking Routes of a Persecuted Population', 2022. https://freedomcollaborative.org/mapping-rohingya-movement.

Gender Climate Tracker. 'The Cancun Agreements: Outcome of the Work of the Ad Hoc Working Group on Long-Term Cooperative Action under the Convention'. Text, 18 October 2016. https://genderclimatetracker.org/gender-mandates/cancun-agree-ments-outcome-work-ad-hoc-working-group-long-term-cooperative-action-1.

Gerrard, Michael B. 'Climate Change and Human Trafficking after the Paris Agreement'. University of Miami Law Review 72 (2018 2017): 345.

GFEMS. 'GFEMS Contribution to OHCHR Call for Inputs: Trafficking of Persons in the Context of Climate Change', 12 May 2022. http://own-cloud.unog.ch/s/kFQa8RmZP4mSGn9.

Ghazi, Rukhsana, Ziaul Haque, Nurul Alam, and Elma Chowdhury. 'Trafficking of Women and Children in Bangladesh: An Overview', 2001. Ghosh, Rajan Chandra, and Caroline Orchiston. 'A Systematic Review of Climate Migration Research: Gaps in Existing Literature'. SN Social Sciences 2, no. 5 (May 2022): 47. https://doi.org/10.1007/s43545-022-00341-8.

Global Climate Change Litigation Database. 'Center for Food and Adequate Living Rights et al. v. Tanzania and Uganda'. Climate Change Litigation. Accessed 3 July 2022. http://climate-casechart.com/non-us-case/center-for-food-and-adequate-living-rights-et-al-v-tanzania-and-uganda/.

Global Fund to End Modern Slavery and Awareness Against Human Trafficking. 'You Cannot Give from an Empty Cup: How One Anti-Trafficking Organization Centers Mental Health'. Global Fund to End Modern Slavery (blog). Accessed 30 June 2022. https://www.gfems.org/tag/sex-trafficking/.

Government of Bangladesh. 'প্রধানমন্ত্রীর কার্যালয়'. Accessed 17 August 2022. https://pmo.gov.bd/site/page/fabe0f09-3ed1-47b0-8545-

14e6369a1b85/http%3A%2F%2Fpmo.gov.bd%2Fsite%2Fpage%2Ffabe0f09-3ed1-47b0-8545-

<u>14e6369a1b85%2FAshrayan-%3A-poverty-alleviation-and-sustainable-development.</u>

Government of the People's Republic ofBangladesh. 'Bangladesh Country Report, 2016: Combating Human Trafficking', 2016. <a href="https://mhapsd.portal.gov.bd/sites/default/files/files/mhapsd.portal.gov.bd/sites/default/files/files/mhapsd.portal.gov.bd/sites/default/files/files/mhapsd.portal.gov.bd/sites/default/files/files/mhapsd.portal.gov.bd/sites/default/files/files/mhapsd.portal.gov.bd/sites/default/files/files/mhapsd.portal.gov.bd/sites/default/files/files/mhapsd.portal.gov.bd/sites/default/files/files/mhapsd.portal.gov.bd/sites/default/files/files/mhapsd.portal.gov.bd/sites/default/files/files/mhapsd.portal.gov.bd/sites/default/files/files/mhapsd.portal.gov.bd/sites/default/files/files/mhapsd.portal.gov.bd/sites/default/files/files/files/mhapsd.portal.gov.bd/sites/default/files/fil

tal.gov.bd/page/d9fa01c7 35a1 42f2 827c 1030c 3e0e474/Country%20re-

port%202016%20%20fina.pdf.

———. 'Bangladesh Country Report, 2018: Combating Human Trafficking', 2018. https://mhapsd.portal.gov.bd/annual_re-

ports/0cc28f8e 1dcf 4b4e 9a38 264aaa42510c/Final%20 %20Country%20Re-

port%202018%20 %2018.12.19%20(2).pdf.

———. 'Human Trafficking Deterrence and Suppression Act 2012', 2012. https://www.ref-world.org/pdfid/543f75664.pdf.

———. 'National Plan of Action for Human Trafficking'. Accessed 24 June 2022. https://evaw-global-da-tabase.unwomen.org/en/countries/asia/bangla-desh/2012/national-plan-of-action-for-human-trafficking.

Government of West Bengal. 'Operational Guidelines for West Bengal on Rescue, Safe Return & Repatriation of Women & Child Victims of Trafficking & Cross Border Movement from Bangladesh', 2016. http://wbcdwdsw.gov.in/wbtf_link/pdf/operational-guideline.pdf.

Green Climate Fund. 'Consideration of Funding Proposals - Addendum VI: Funding Proposal Package for FP174', 14 September 2021. https://www.greenclimate.fund/sites/default/files/document/gcf-b30-02-add06.pdf.

———. 'Financing Climate Action', 27 May 2022. https://www.greenclimate.fund/sites/default/files/document/20220527-financing-climateaction.pdf.

———. 'GCF Gender Equality and Social Inclusion Policy and Action Plan 2018–2020', 2018. https://www.greenclimate.fund/sites/de-fault/files/document/gcf-b19-25.pdf.

———. 'Livelihoods of People and Communities'. Text. Green Climate Fund. Green Climate Fund, 27 May 2021. https://www.greenclimate.fund/results/livelihoods-people-communities.

———. 'Livelihoods of People and Communities'. Text. Green Climate Fund. Green Climate Fund, 27 May 2021. https://www.greenclimate.fund/results/livelihoods-people-communities.

———. 'Project Safeguards'. Text. Green Climate Fund. Green Climate Fund, 5 September 2019. https://www.greenclimate.fund/projects/safe-quards.

———. 'SAP008: Extended Community Climate Change Project-Flood (ECCCP-Flood)'. Text. Green Climate Fund. Green Climate Fund, 14 November 2019. https://www.greenclimate.fund/project/sap008.

Guha, Ambalika, and Sreeparna Banerjee. The 2015 India-Bangladesh Land Boundary Agreement: Identifying Constraints and Exploring Possibilities in Cooch Behar', 13 July 2017. https://www.orfonline.org/research/the-2015-india-bangladesh-land-boundary-agreement-identifying-constraints-and-exploring-possibilities-in-cooch-behar/.

Haas, Hein de. 'A Theory of Migration: The Aspirations-Capabilities Framework'. Comparative Migration Studies 9, no. 1 (December 2021): 8. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40878-020-00210-4.

Haque, Asirul, Md Habibur Rahman, and Dilara Rahman. 'An Evaluation of Sea Level Rise Vulnerability and Resilience Strategy to Climate Change in the

Coastline of Bangladesh'. International Journal of Environmental Sciences & Natural Resources 18, no. 2 (29 March 2019): https://doi.org/10.19080/IJESNR.2019.18.555983. Human Right Watch. "An Island Jail in the Middle of the Sea": Bangladesh's Relocation of Rohingya Refugees to Bhasan Char'. Human Rights Watch, 2021. https://www.hrw.org/report/2021/06/07/island-jailmiddle-sea/bangladeshs-relocation-rohingya-refugees-bhasan-char. OHCHR. 'Human Rights Violations Suffered by Displaced Persons Are Well Known, but the Extent to Which They Are Affected by Contemporary Forms of Slavery Is Often Overlooked - Special Rapporteur to Human Rights Council'. Accessed 29 September https://www.ohchr.org/en/press-re-2022. leases/2021/09/human-rights-violations-suffereddisplaced-persons-are-well-known-extent. IDMC. 'Bangladesh'. IDMC. Accessed 20 July 2022. https://www.internal-displacement.org/countries/bangladesh. –. 'Case Study Series - Dam Displacement'. IDMC. Accessed 29 September https://www.internal-displacement.org/publications/case-study-series-dam-displacement. IFC. 'IFC Performance Standards on Environmental and Social Sustainability', 1 January 2012. https://www.ifc.org/wps/wcm/connect/c02c2e86e6cd-4b55-95a2-b3395d204279/IFC Performance Standards.pdf?MOD=AJ-PERES&CVID=kTjHBzk. ILO. 'Child Labour in Mining and Global Supply Chains'. May 2019. https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/--asia/---ro-bangkok/---ilo-manila/documents/publication/wcms 720743.pdf. -. 'Human Trafficking: Together, We Can Stop the Scourge'. Feature, 11 June 2020. http://www.ilo.org/dhaka/Informationresources/Publicinformation/Pressreleases/WCMS 749570/lang--en/index.htm. Interagency Coordination Group Against Trafficking in Persons. 'Addressing Vulnerability to Trafficking in Persons', 2022 https://icat.un.org/sites/g/files/tmzbdl461/files/pub

https://icat.un.org/sites/g/files/tmzbdl461/files/pub lications/annex 1 icat joint statement final 2.pdf. ———. 'Trafficking in Persons for the Purpose of Organ Removal: A Poorly Detected and Underreported Phenomenon of Growing Concern | The Inter-Agency Coordination Group against Trafficking in Persons'. 3 November 2021. https://icat.un.org/events/11-2021/trafficking-persons-purpose-organ-removal-poorly-detected-andunderreported. Inter-Agency Standing Committee. 'IASC Operational Guidelines on Human Rights and Natural Disasters - Protecting Persons Affected by Natural Disasters', 2006. https://interagencystandingcommit- tee.org/system/files/2021-03/IASC%20Operational%20Guidelines%20on%20Human%20Rights%20and%20Natural%20Disasters%20-%20Protecting%20Persons%20Affected%20by%20Natural%20Disasters.pdf. ———. 'IASC Operational Guidelines on the Protection of Persons in Situations of Natural Disasters', 2011. https://www.ohchr.org/sites/default/files/Documents/Issues/IDPersons/OperationalGuidelines IDP.pdf. Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. 'Climate Change 2022: Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability. Summary for Policymakers.', https://www.ipcc.ch/report/ar6/wg2/downloads/report/IPCC AR6 WGII FinalDraft FullReport.pdf. International Crisis Group. 'Eight Priorities for the African Union in 2022'. Crisis Group, 1 February 2022. https://www.crisisgroup.org/africa/african-union-regional-bodies/b-177-eight-priorities-african-union-2022. IOM. 'Addressing Human Trafficking and Exploitation in Times of Crisis- Evidence and Recommendations for Further Action to Protect Vulnerable and Mobile Populations'. Accessed 23 June 2022. https://publications.iom.int/books/addressing-human-trafficking-and-exploitation-times-crisis-evidence-and-recommendations-0. -—. 'Brief 13: A Gender Approach to Environmental Migration (from IOM MECCC)'. Accessed 21

https://www.iom.int/sites/g/files/tmzbdl486/files/a

bout-iom/gender/Gender-Approach-to-Environ-

mental-Migration.pdf.

ity to tip.pdf.

2021.

lications/icat issue brief 12 vulnerabil-

---. 'ICAT Joint Final Statement', November

———. 'Climate Change and Migration in Vulnerable Countries', 2019. https://publications.iom.int/system/files/pdf/climate-change-and-migration-in-vulnerable-countries.pdf.

———. 'Institutional Strategy on Migration, Environment and Climate Change 2021–2030', 21 May 2020. https://publications.iom.int/books/institutional-strategy-migration-environment-and-climate-change-2021-2030.

———. 'Key Migration Terms'. International Organization for Migration. Accessed 20 July 2022. https://www.iom.int/key-migration-terms.

———. 'Thousands at Risk of Trafficking Amid Rohingya Refugee Crisis: IOM'. International Organization for Migration, 2018. https://www.iom.int/news/thousands-risk-traffick-ing-amid-rohingya-refugee-crisis-iom.

———. 'World Migration Report 2022', 21 May 2022. https://publications.iom.int/books/world-migration-report-2022.

IOM Bangladesh. 'IOM and KOICA Sign Agreement to Combat Human Trafficking in Bangladesh'. Accessed 24 June 2022. https://bangladesh.iom.int/news/iom-and-koica-sign-agreement-combat-human-trafficking-bangladesh.

IOM DTM. 'Bangladesh – District Snapshot - Chattogram - Survey on Drivers of Migration and Migrants' Profile', 2021. https://dtm.iom.int/reports/bangladesh-%E2%80%93-district-snapshot-chattogram-

survey-drivers-migration-remap-2020.

IOM Migration, Environment and Climate Change. The Climate Change - Human Trafficking Nexus.' Accessed 8 June 2022. https://publications.iom.int/system/files/pdf/mecc_infosheet_cli-

mate change nexus.pdf.

IPCC. 'IPCC Special Report on Climate Change, Desertification, Land Degradation, Sustainable Land Management, Food Security, and Greenhouse Gas Fluxes in Terrestrial Ecosystems. Chapter 3: Desertification — Special Report on Climate Change and Land', August 2019. https://www.ipcc.ch/srccl/chapter/chapter-3/.

IUCN. 'Bangladesh Sundurban Delta Vision 2050'. Accessed 24 July 2022. https://portals.iucn.org/library/sites/library/files/documents/2014-065-doc.1.pdf.

Jackson, Bethany, Doreen S. Boyd, Christopher D. Ives, Jessica L. Decker Sparks, Giles M. Foody, Stuart Marsh, and Kevin Bales. 'Remote Sensing of Fish-Pro-

cessing in the Sundarbans Reserve Forest, Bangladesh: An Insight into the Modern Slavery-Environment Nexus in the Coastal Fringe'. Maritime Studies 19, no. 4 (1 December 2020): 429–44. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40152-020-00199-7.

Janjua, Haroon, and Harun ur Rashid. 'Social Media Apps Help Scale up Sex Trafficking'. Pulitzer Center. Accessed 30 June 2022. https://pulitzer-center.org/stories/social-media-apps-help-scale-sex-trafficking.

Karim, Naimul. 'Lack of Evidence, Financial Help Found Hurting Bangladesh Trafficking Cases'. Reuters, 2021, sec. reboot-live. https://www.reuters.com/article/us-bangladesh-trafficking-courtiduskbn2BE1FK.

———. 'Rohingya Refugees in Bangladesh Warned to Be Wary with Human Trafficking Rising'. Reuters, 2019. https://www.reuters.com/article/us-bangladesh-myanmar-trafficking-idUSKCN1VD0XD.

Khan, Mizan R., Saleemul Huq, Adeeba N. Risha, and Sarder S. Alam. 'High-Density Population and Displacement in Bangladesh'. Science 372, no. 6548 (18 June 2021): 1290–93.

https://doi.org/10.1126/science.abi6364.

Kirchberger, Martina. 'Natural Disasters and Labor Markets'. Journal of Development Economics 125 (March 2017): 40–58.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jdeveco.2016.11.002.

Kumar, Awkash. 'Bangladesh Border Vicinity for Human Trafficking: An Indian Viewpoint', 32–42, 2016. Laczko, Frank, Christine Aghazarm, and International Organization for Migration, eds. Migration, Environment and Climate Change: Assessing the Evidence. Geneva: Internat. Organization for Migration, 2009. Loarne-Lemaire, Séverine Le, Gaël Bertrand, Meriam Razgallah, Adnane Maalaoui, and Andreas Kallmuenzer. 'Women in Innovation Processes as a Solution to Climate Change: A Systematic Literature Review and an Agenda for Future Research'. Technological Forecasting and Social Change 164 (1 March 2021): https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tech-

fore.2020.120440.

Lovatt, Joanna. 'The Bangladesh Shrimp Farmers Facing Life on the Edge'. The Guardian, 2016, sec. Global Development Professionals Network. https://www.theguardian.com/global-development-professionals-network/2016/feb/17/thebangladesh-shrimp-farmers-facing-life-on-theedge.

Maebiru, Veronica, Samantha Ryan, and Julian Tung. 'Sexual Exploitation of Children by Travelling Workers in the Solomon Islands', 31 August 2021. https://ecpat.org/wp-content/up-

loads/2021/08/Save-the-Children.pdf.

The Times of India. 'Mahila Thanas a Big Relief, but There's Too Few of Them', 22 November 2018. https://timesofindia.indiatimes.com/india/mahila-thanas-a-big-relief-but-theres-too-few-of-them/articleshow/66748745.cms.

Majumder, Suchismita. The Jailed Rohingya in West Bengal. The Rohingya in South Asia. Routledge India, 2018. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780429467677-5.

Mallick, Bishawjit, Rupkatha Priodarshini, Jude N. Kimengsi, Bangkim Biswas, Alexander E. Hausmann, Safiqul Islam, Saleemul Huq, and Joachim Vogt. 'Livelihoods Dependence on Mangrove Ecosystems: Empirical Evidence from the Sundarbans'. Current Research in Environmental Sustainability 3 (1 January 2021):

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.crsust.2021.100077.

McAuliffe, Marie. The Nexus Between Forced and Irregular Migration: Insights from Demography | SpringerLink', 2017. https://link.springer.com/chapter/10.1007/978-3-319-67147-5 11.

McCallum, Leanne. 'Reflections from the Field: Disparate Responses to Labour Exploitation in Post-Katrina Louisiana'. Anti-Trafficking Review, no. 15 (28 September 2020): 21–41.

https://doi.org/10.14197/atr.201220152.

McLeman, Robert, David Wrathall, Elisabeth Gilmore, Philip Thornton, Helen Adams, and François Gemenne. 'Conceptual Framing to Link Climate Risk Assessments and Climate-Migration Scholarship'. Climatic Change 165, no. 1–2 (March 2021): 24. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10584-021-03056-6.

Milan, Andrea, and Sergio Ruano. 'Rainfall Variability, Food Insecurity and Migration in Cabricán, Guatemala'. Climate and Development 6, no. 1 (2 January 2014): 61–68.

https://doi.org/10.1080/17565529.2013.857589.

Ministry of Environment, Natural Resources and Regional Development Authorities, Kenya. 'Republic of Kenya: National Adaptation Plan', May 2018. http://www.environment.go.ke/wp-content/up-loads/2018/05/National-Adaptation-Plan-NAP.pdf. Mixed Migration Centre. 'Rohingya Migration to India': Accessed 27 June 2022. https://mixedmigration.org/resource/rohingya-migration-to-india/.

Mohammad Jamil Khan and Bangladesh. Trafficked into Nightmares'. World News Day (blog), 2019. https://worldnewsday.org/trafficked-into-night-mares/.

Molinari, Nicole. 'Intensifying Insecurities: The Impact of Climate Change on Vulnerability to Human Trafficking in the Indian Sundarbans'. Anti-Trafficking Review, no. 8 (27 April 2017). https://doi.org/10.14197/atr.20121784.

Mordeson, John N., and Sunil Mathew. Mathematics of Uncertainty for Coping with World Challenges: Climate Change, World Hunger, Modern Slavery, Coronavirus, Human Trafficking. Springer Nature, 2021.

'More Than Money: How Predictive Analytics in Payments Can Help Prevent Human Trafficking'. Accessed 27 July 2022. https://prove.com/.

Mott McDonald. 'GCF Environmental and Social Safeguards: Outline of Proposed New Structure and Content', March 2022. https://www.greenclimate.fund/sites/default/files/page/gcf-new-ess-

stage-2-report-march-2022.pdf.

Murray, Fraser, Samanthi Theminimulle, Faiz Ahmed, and Shahariar Sadat. 'Study on Modern Slavery in Bangladesh'. Department for International Development, Government of the United Kingdom, 2019. https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/me-

<u>dia/5e56a40d86650c539fff3f20/DFID_Study_on_M</u> <u>odern_Slavery_in_Bangladesh_.pdf</u>.

Nansen Initiative. 'Agenda for the Protection of Cross-Border Displaced Persons in the Context of Disasters and Climate Change: October 2015', March 2016. https://academic.oup.com/ijrl/article-lookup/doi/10.1093/ijrl/eew004.

Nayna Schwerdtle, Patricia, Julia Stockemer, Kathryn J. Bowen, Rainer Sauerborn, Celia McMichael, and Ina Danquah. 'A Meta-Synthesis of Policy Recommendations Regarding Human Mobility in the Context of Climate Change'. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health 17, no. 24 (January 2020): 9342.

https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17249342.

Neeraj Chauhan. "Well-Oiled Network Gets 50,000 Bangladeshi Girls Trafficked into India Every Year". The Times of India, 10 January 2018. https://timeso-findia.indiatimes.com/india/well-oiled-network-gets-50000-bangladeshi-girls-trafficked-into-india-

every-year/articleshow/62436540.cms.

Nguyen, Hanh, and Themba Lewis. 'Bhasan Char One Year On'. Mixed Migration Centre (blog), 2022.

https://mixedmigration.org/articles/bhasan-charone-year-on/.

Observer Research Foundation. 'Managing Human Trafficking at India-Bangladesh Border'. ORF. Accessed 24 June 2022. https://www.orfonline.org/research/managing-human-trafficking-at-india-bang-ladesh-border/.

OECD. 'OECD Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises - Responsible Business Conduct Matters', 2021. http://mneguidelines.oecd.org/MNEguide-

lines RBCmatters.pdf.

OHCHR. 'A/50/39: Report on Initial Planning and Vision for the Mandate'. OHCHR. Accessed 26 June 2022. https://www.ohchr.org/en/documents/the-matic-reports/a5039-report-initial-planning-and-vision-mandate.

———. 'OHCHR | Call for Inputs: Trafficking of Persons in the Context of Climate Change'. OHCHR. Accessed 20 July 2022. https://www.ohchr.org/en/calls-for-input/2022/call-inputs-trafficking-persons-context-climate-change.

———. 'OwnCloud - A Safe Home for All Your Data'. ownCloud. Accessed 22 July 2022. http://own-cloud.unog.ch/s/kFQa8RmZP4mSGn9.

———. 'Special Rapporteur on Climate Change'. OHCHR, March 2022. https://www.ohchr.org/en/specialprocedures/sr-climate-change.

———. The Impact of Climate Change on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities'. OHCHR. Accessed 22 July 2022. https://www.ohchr.org/en/climate-change/impact-climate-change-rights-persons-disabilities.

Pegram, Joni, and Cristina Colon. Are Climate Change Policies Child-Sensitive? A Guide for Action: Summary. UNICEF, n.d.

Priovashini, Chup, and Bishawjit Mallick. 'A Bibliometric Review on the Drivers of Environmental Migration'. Ambio 51, no. 1 (January 2022): 241–52. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13280-021-01543-9.

Priya Menon. 'Lost Dreams in the Corridors of Trafficking'. The Times of India, 8 October 2018. https://timesofindia.indiatimes.com/city/chen-

nai/lost-dreams-in-the-corridors-of-trafficking/articleshow/66112104.cms.

Rahman, Afzalur. 'A Study on Irregular Migration from Bangladesh to Malaysia through the Bay of Bengal and the Andaman Sea'. Otoritas: Jurnal Ilmu Pemerintahan 10 (2020): 120–31. https://doi.org/10.26618/ojip.v10i2.4640.

Randell, Heather. 'The Short-Term Impacts of Development-Induced Displacement on Wealth and Subjective Well-Being in the Brazilian Amazon'. World Development 87 (November 2016): 385–400. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.worlddev.2016.07.005.

Reisen, Mirjam van, Munyaradzi Mawere, Mia Stokmans, and Gebre-Egziabher Abraha Kinfe. Roaming Africa: Migration, Resilience and Social Protection. Langaa RPCIG, 2019.

Sanjeewani, Niruka. 'Trafficking in Rohingya Women: The ASEAN Perspective | Kaldor Centre', 2020. https://www.kaldorcentre.unsw.edu.au/publication/trafficking-rohingya-women-asean-perspective.

Seefar. 'Profitable Ethical Recruitment', July 2020. https://respect.international/wp-content/up-loads/2021/04/PROFITABLE-ETHICAL-RECRUIT-MENT.pdf.

Shantanu Guha Ray. 'Bengal New Epicentre of Human Trafficking'. The Sunday Guardian Live (blog), 14 January 2018. https://www.sundayguardian-live.com/news/12400-bengal-new-epicentre-human-trafficking.

Sharif, Sherajul Mustajib, and Md. Kamal Uddin. 'Environmental Crimes and Green Criminology in Bangladesh'. Criminology & Criminal Justice, 21 November 2021, 17488958211057696.

https://doi.org/10.1177/17488958211057696.

Sherbinin, Alex de. 'Climate Impacts as Drivers of Migration'. migrationpolicy.org, 20 October 2020. https://www.migrationpolicy.org/article/climate-impacts-drivers-migration.

Sheu, Jessica C., Melissa I. M. Torres, Mollie R. Gordon, Phuong T. Nguyen, and John H. Coverdale. 'Potential Impact of Climate Change on Human Trafficking: A Narrative Review'. The Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease 209, no. 5 (May 2021): 324–29. https://doi.org/10.1097/NMD.0000000000001312. SOAS, University of London. 'Migration and Conflict in the Horn of Africa: A Desk Review and Proposal for Research', 15 March 2017. https://www.soas.ac.uk/ref-hornresearch/research-papers/file120035.pdf.

Social Impact, and USAID. 'Assessment of Human Trafficking in Artisanal Mining Towns in Eastern Democratic Republic of the Congo', August 2014. https://pdf.usaid.gov/pdf docs/PA00K5R1.pdf.
Start Network Bangladesh. 'Khulna, Bangladesh Water Logging & Tidal Bore - Briefing Note – 20 Septem-

ber, 2020 - Bangladesh | ReliefWeb'. Accessed 16 August 2022. https://reliefweb.int/report/bangladesh/khulna-bangladesh-water-logging-tidal-bore-briefing-note-20-september-2020.

Steele, Sarah. 'Human Trafficking, Labor Brokering, and Mining in Southern Africa: Responding to a Decentralized and Hidden Public Health Disaster'. International Journal of Health Services: Planning, Administration, Evaluation 43, no. 4 (2013): 665–80. https://doi.org/10.2190/HS.43.4.e.

Story of Shilpi: A Survivor of Human Trafficking, 2020. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=XCxR39oPnyg. Terre des hommes. 'The Neglected Link - Effects of Climate Change and Environmental Degradation on Child Labour', 2017. https://www.ter-redeshommes.org/wp-content/up-

loads/2017/06/CL-Report-2017-engl.pdf.

UN. 'Addressing the Gender Dimensions of Trafficking in Persons in the Context of Climate Change, Displacement, and Disaster Risk Reduction: Report of the Special Rapporteur on Trafficking in Persons, Especially Women and Children, Siobhán Mullally', 2022.

———. 'Global Compact for Safe, Orderly and Regular Migration', 13 July 2018. <a href="https://refugeesmi-grants.un.org/sites/de-grants.un

<u>fault/files/180713 agreed outcome global compact for migration.pdf.</u>

UN Bangladesh. 'HCTT Response Plan: Cyclone Amphan', June 2020. https://fscluster.org/sites/de-fault/files/documents/31.05.2020 fi-

nal draft hctt cyclone amphan re-

sponse plan.pdf.

UN Climate Change Conference UK 2021. The Global Forest Finance Pledge'. UN Climate Change Conference (COP26) at the SEC – Glasgow 2021, 2 November 2021. https://ukcop26.org/the-global-forest-finance-pledge/.

UN Framework Convention on Climate Change. 'UN-FCCC Topics'. Accessed 26 June 2022. https://unfccc.int/topics#:11565fd6-dd29-4d61-8085-

27dba428982f:997d8988-ae1e-434f-9035-

3f2725e48eac.

UN News. 'Nepal: In Earthquakes' Wake, UNICEF Speeds up Response to Prevent Child Trafficking'. UN News, 22 June 2015. https://news.un.org/en/story/2015/06/502262-ne-pal-earthquakes-wake-unicef-speeds-response-prevent-child-trafficking.

——. 'UN and Government of Bangladesh Sign Memorandum of Understanding for Rohingya Humanitarian Response on Bhasan Char | United Nations in Bangladesh'. Accessed 27 June 2022. https://bangladesh.un.org/en/150722-un-and-government-bangladesh-sign-memorandum-understanding-rohingya-humanitarian-response, https://bangladesh.un.org/en/150722-un-and-government-bangladesh-sign-memorandum-understanding-rohingya-humanitarian-response. UNDESA. 'International Migrant Stock | Population Division'. 2020. https://www.un.org/development/desa/pd/content/international-migrantstock.

UNDP. 'Every Drop Counts: Increasing Water Security in Coastal Areas of Bangladesh | United Nations Development Programme'. UNDP. Accessed 15 August 2022. https://www.undp.org/bangladesh/news/every-drop-counts-increasing-water-security-coastal-areas-bangladesh.

UNDP, and Bangladesh Ministry of Finance. 'Engagement of Non-Resident Bangladeshis in National Development', 2018. https://erd.portal.gov.bd/sites/default/files/files/erd.por-

tal.gov.bd/page/83abb6f9 b264 45f9 92c0 2596b 2421dc9/NRB.pdf.

UNDRR. 'Sendai Framework for Disaster Risk Reduction 2015–2030'. Accessed 3 July 2022. https://www.preventionweb.net/files/resolu-

tions/N1516716.pdf.

UNFCCC. '2015 Paris Agreement', 2015. https://unfccc.int/sites/default/files/english paris agreement.pdf.

———. 'Introduction to Gender and Climate Change'. Accessed 2 July 2022. https://unfccc.int/gender.

———. The National Adaptation Plan Process: A Brief Overview', December 2012. https://unfccc.int/files/adaptation/application/pdf/nap-over-view.pdf.

UNFPA. 'Ethiopia's Worst Drought in 40 Years Threatens to Derail Gains Made in Maternal and Newborn Health'. Accessed 21 July 2022. https://www.unfpa.org/ethiopias-worst-drought-40-years-threat-ens-derail-gains-made-maternal-and-newborn-health.

———. 'Infographic: Climate Change and Gender-Based Violence'. Accessed 21 July 2022. https://esaro.unfpa.org/sites/default/files/pubpdf/climate change and gender-based violence.pdf.

United Nations Children's Fund. The Changing Climate'. Accessed 30 June 2022. https://www.unicef.org/bangladesh/en/changing-climate.

United Nations Environment Programme. Women at the Frontline of Climate Change: Gender Risks and Hopes. UNEP, 2011. https://wedocs.unep.org/xmlui/han-dle/20.500.11822/7985.

United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees. 'Irregular Maritime Movements - South East Asia'. UNHCR. Accessed 27 June 2022. https://www.unhcr.org/en-in/protection/migration/554c6a746/irregular-maritime-movements-south-east-asia.html. United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime. 'Global Report on Trafficking in Persons 2020', 2020. https://www.unodc.org/documents/data-and-anal-ysis/tip/2021/GLOTip 2020 15jan web.pdf.

United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime and Global Programme Against Trafficking in Human Beings. Toolkit to Combat Trafficking in Persons. United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime, 2008.

United States Department of State. '2021 Trafficking in Persons Report: Bangladesh'. United States Department of State (blog). Accessed 24 June 2022. https://www.state.gov/reports/2021-trafficking-in-persons-report/bangladesh/.

University of Nottingham. 'Solar: The Energy of Freedom, or a Driver of Modern Slavery?', 29 March 2022. https://www.nottingham.ac.uk/news/solar-the-energy-of-freedom-or-a-driver-of-modern-slavery. University of Nottingham Rights Lab. 'University of Nottingham Rights Lab (Dr Bethany Jackson) Contribution to OHCHR Call for Inputs: Trafficking of Persons in the Context of Climate Change', May 2022. http://owncloud.unog.ch/s/kFQa8RmZP4mSGn9. UNODC. '2021 International Dialogue on Migration Accelerating Integrated Action on Sustainable Development: Migration, the Environment and Climate Change Statement by the United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime (UNODC)', 2021.

——. 'Abused and Neglected', 2021. https://www.unodc.org/documents/human-traf-ficking/2021/Aggravated SOM and Gender.pdf.
——— 'Building Stronger Families to Prevent Drug.

———. 'Building Stronger Families to Prevent Drug Use and Trafficking among Rohingya Refugees in Bangladesh'. United Nations: Office on Drugs and Crime. Accessed 28 June 2022. //www.unodc.org/unodc/en/frontpage/2022/June/ building-stronger-families-to-prevent-drug-useand-trafficking-among-rohingya-refugees-in-bangladesh.html. —. 'Compendium on Best Practices by Law Enforcement Agencies', 2003. https://www.unodc.org/pdf/india/publications/compendium best practices 51 100.pdf. —. 'Conflict in Ukraine: Key Evidence on Risks of Trafficking in Persons and Smuggling of Migrants', 2022. https://www.unodc.org/documents/data-and-analysis/tip/Conflict Ukraine TIP 2022.pdf. —. 'Global Report on Trafficking in Persons'. United Nations: Office on Drugs and Crime. Accessed 26 June 2022. //www.unodc.org/unodc/en/human-trafficking/global-report-on-trafficking-in-persons.html. -—. 'Illegal Mining'. United Nations: Office on Drugs and Crime. Accessed 28 September 2022. //www.unodc.org/unodc/en/environment-climate/illegal-mining.html. —. 'In Conversation with Akter Uz Zaman from the Criminal Investigations Department of the Bangladesh Police'. United Nations: Office on Drugs and Crime. Accessed 30 June 2022. //www.unodc.org/unodc/en/human-trafficking/glo-act3/Countries/in-conversation-with-akter-<u>uz-zaman-from-the-criminal-investigations-depart-</u> ment-of-the-bangladesh-police.html. —. 'India: SOPs to Help First Responders Address Human Trafficking at the Borders Unveiled'. Accessed June 2022. https://www.unodc.org/southasia//frontpage/2018 /April/india -sops-to-help-first-responders-address-<u>human-trafficking-at-the-borders-unveiled.html</u>. ——. 'Maximizing Impact: UNODC Provides Specialist Coaching to Officers in Bangladesh'. United Nations: Office on Drugs and Crime. Accessed 20 July 2022. //www.unodc.org/unodc/en/human-trafficking/glo-act3/Countries/maximizing-impact unodc-provides-specialist-coaching-to-officers-inbangladesh.html. ---. 'Multiple Systems Estimation for Estimating

the Number of Victims of Human Trafficking across

https://www.unodc.org/documents/data-and-anal-

lune

World'.

ysis/tip/TiPMSE.pdf.

2016.

-----. 'Standard Operating Procedures to Counter Cross-Border Trafficking in Persons: India-Bangladesh', 2017. <a href="https://www.unodc.org/documents/southasia/publications/SOPs-on-TIP-India-Nepal-Bangladesh/indo_bangladesh/indo_bangladesh/indo_b

desh 20 March 18.pdf.

----. 'Standard Operating Procedures to Counter
 Cross-Border Trafficking in Persons: India-Bangladesh', September 2017.
 https://www.unodc.org/docu-

ments/southasia/publications/SOPs-on-TIP-India-Nepal-Bangladesh/indo_bangladesh 20 March 18.pdf.

———. 'The Effects of the COVID-19 Pandemic on Trafficking in Persons', 25 June 2021. https://www.unodc.org/documents/human-trafficking/2021/The effects of the COVID-19 pandemic on trafficking in persons.pdf.

———. 'UNODC Climate Change and Migration Nexus Abstract', May 2022.

———. 'UNODC Environment Team: Our Mandate'. Accessed 21 July 2022. https://www.unodc.org/unodc/en/environment-climate/our-mandate.html.

———. 'UNODC Toolkit for Mainstreaming Human Rights and Gender Equality', February 2021. https://www.unodc.org/documents/human-trafficking/GLO-ACTII/UNODC Toolkit for mainstreaming Human Rights and Gender Equality February 2021.pdf.

UNODC, and UN.GIFT. 'An Introduction to Human Trafficking: Vulnerability, Impact and Action', 2008. https://icat.un.org/sites/g/files/tmzbdl461/files/publications/icat_issue_brief_12_vulnerabil-

ity to tip.pdf.

UNSCEB. 'UN Common Approach to Biodiversity | United Nations - CEB'. Accessed 28 July 2022. https://unsceb.org/un-common-approach-biodiversity.

US Department of State. '2021 Trafficking in Persons Report: Solomon Islands'. United States Department of State (blog). Accessed 26 June 2022. https://www.state.gov/reports/2021-trafficking-in-persons-report/solomon-islands/.

US DOS. 'Bangladesh'. United States Department of State (blog). Accessed 8 June 2022. https://www.state.gov/reports/2020-trafficking-in-persons-report/bangladesh/.

US State Department. The Link between Extractive Industries and Sex Trafficking', June 2017.

https://www.state.gov/wp-content/up-loads/2019/02/272964.pdf.

USAID. 'Assessment of the Media Sector in Bangladesh', 24 March 2022. https://pdf.usaid.gov/pdf_docs/PA00Z9T6.pdf.

Vallentine, Jennifer. 'A Perilous Journey: Protection Risks Facing Rohingya En Route to Malaysia'. Mixed Migration Centre (blog), 8 July 2021. https://mixed-migration.org/articles/a-perilous-journey/.

Verité. 'Human Trafficking Risk Factors in Gold Production in Africa'. Accessed 28 September 2022. https://verite.org/africa/explore-by-commod-ity/gold/.

Welle (www.dw.com), Deutsche. 'Climate Change Leads to More Violence against Women, Girls | DW | 27.02.2020'. DW.COM. Accessed 8 June 2022. https://www.dw.com/en/women-climate-change-sexual-violence-iucn/a-52449269.

White, Rob. 'Environmental Insecurity and Fortress Mentality', 2014.

World Bank. 'Groundswell: Preparing for Internal Climate Migration', 2021. https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/han-dle/10986/29461.

———. 'Leveraging Urbanization in Bangladesh'. Text/HTML. World Bank. Accessed 20 July 2022. https://www.worldbank.org/en/country/bangladesh/brief/leveraging-urbanization-bangladesh. Yu Kojima. 'Rohingya Women in Migration: Lost Voices - Our World'. Accessed 27 June 2022. https://ourworld.unu.edu/en/rohingya-women-inmigration-lost-voices.



Contacts

Human Trafficking and Migrant Smuggling Section Vienna International Centre, PO Box 500, 1400 Vienna, Austria Website: https://www.unodc.org/unodc/glo_act/ https://www.iom.int/gloact Twitter: @glo_act | @htmss_unodc